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IN 'rHE

Supreme Court of Appeals of Virginia
AT RICHMOND.

Record No. 2917
EDGAR WALLACE HUMPHRIES,
versus

NEWPORT NEWS SHIPBUILDING AND DRY DOCK
COMP.ANY, A CORPORATION. SELF INSURED.

PETITION FOR APPEAL ON BEHALF OF EDGAR
WALLA.CE HUMPHRIES.

To the Honorable Chief J11,stice and Justices of the Supreme
Court of Appeals of Virginia:

Your Petitioner. Edgar Wallace Humphries represents that
he is aggrieved by a final a ward or decision rendered against
him by the Indnst.ial Commission of Virginia on the 12th
day of June, 1944, dismissing his claim in a proceedings for
compensation pending before said Commission wherein Your
Petitioner was the claimant and Newport News Shipbuilding
and Dry Dock Company, a corporation, self insured, was the
employer.
.
A duly certified typewritten copy of the transcript
2• •of the record of said proceedings is filed herewith and
references herein are to the typewritten record.
.
Your Petitioner is advised and represents that said award
or decision of J nne 12th, 19~ against him is erroneous and
that he is aggrieved thereby 'in the following p~rticulars,
namely:
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ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1.
The award or decision of the Commission of June 12th,
1944, and the findings of fact and conclusion of law upon
which it is based are without support in and contrary to the
law and the evidence and are erroneous.

2.
The Commission's holding in its said award or decision
tliat the principles applicable to the acceleration and aggravation of preexistent diseases are not applicable to the instant
case, is without support in and contrary to the law and evidence and is erroneous.

3.
The Commission's holding in its said award or deci3* sion *that no notice of an alleged accident was given by
the Petitioner to Newport News Shipbuilding and Dry
Dock Company within thirty days of its occurrence, as required by Section 23 of the Workmen's Compensation Act of
Virginia, is without support in and contrary to the law and
evidence and is erroneous.
4.

The Commission's holding in its said award or decision
that petitioner had failed to establish that his permanent disabled condition is the result of an injury by accident arising
out of and in the course of .employment is without support in
and contrary to the law and evidence and•is errone_ous.
.

STATEMENT OF PROCEEDINGS.
The parties· hereto will .be hereinafter referred to accord. ing to their position bef.ore'!.the Commission where the Petitioner was the claimant and the Newport News Shipbuilding
and Dry Dock Company was the employer.
: Cl~imant and employer beingi unable to agree with regard
to compensation, claimant :01:1 November 20th, 1943, filed with
the Commission an application for a hearing. A hear~ng was.
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had on March 29th, 1944-, before Commissioner Robinson
who filed his i» opinion and award or decision on May 2,
1944, dismissing the claim. On application of claimant
the award or decision of May 2~d, 1944, was reviewed by the
full Commission on May 29th, 1944. The opinion and award
or decision of the full Commission adopting and affirming the
opinion and award. or decision of May 2nd, 1944, was filed on
June 12th, 1944, and a copy thereof was received by the claimant on June 13th, 1944. It is from said award or decision
of June 12th, 1944, that this appeal is sought.

4•

STATEMENT OF F .ACTS.
Claimant, forty years ·of age, is perma~ently disabled by
osteoarthritis, deformative type, in both feet. This disease
or condition may result from a variety of causes ~ncluding
accident or. trauma, age and syphillis. It involves a change
in the bone structure. When i~ an acute and disabling stage
the symptoms are severe pain in and swelling of the feet._ It
probably will be accelerated or aggravated fro:rµ a latent stage
to an acute and disabling stage by accident or trauma. (R., pp.
54, 55, 56).
.
Claimant was employed about November 6th,. ).942, as a
Clerk in employer's store room. The duties of his job requh:.ed more than ordinary use of his feet. .At the time
5• of his employment •he was examined by employer's doctors. While at that time unknown to him he probably
had a latent osteoarthritis due to an old syphilitic infection.
It had never bothered or disabled him before and was not then
in an acute and disabling stage. Employer's doctors, after
examining hjm, approved him for employment (R., .Ex. .A.).
From. November 6th, 1942, to o:h or about ·February 7th,
1943, claimant worked at his employment and had no trouble
with his feet, other than tiredness which naturally resulted
from more than normal use that he had to make of them in
connection with his employment (R., p. 10). His duties required him to fill material orders from bins. In doing so, he
would climb upon and jump· from such bins (R., p. 5). On or
about February 7th, 1943, after filling an order, weighing
about fifty pounds, from the bins., he jumped with the order
from a bin t~ the floor, a distance of about three feet and suffered severe pains from his feet (R., p. 5). He immediately
told his foreman and supervisors Davis and Taylor of what
'\lad occurred (R., pp. 6, 11 and 41). They told him they would
transfer him to a sitting down job and to go to the clinic (R.,
pp. 15 and 41).. This was the first. time claimant had. any
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symptoms of his present disabling osteoarthritis condition
(R., pp. 10., 41, 42 and 44). After the jump of February 7,
1943, his condition became progressively worse until he
6~ was compelled •to take a .sick furlough from his employment on June 28th., 1943.
After· February 7th, 1943, in regard to his condition, claimant at Newport News, Virginia, saw the doctors at the employer's clinic, Doctors Courtney and Williams and Dr.
Longaker, employer's chief physician and at Covington and
Clifton Forge, Virginia, Doctors Johnson, Hawkins and Emmett. But neither he nor any of his physicians realized, or
recognized, the seriousness, permanency or extent of his injuries from said jump until October, 1943, when, after a
thorough examination, he was advised by Doctors Emmett
and Hawkins that he was permanently disabled. Until then
claimant believed that his condition could be relieved by resting and bathing his feet (R., pp. 12, 22 and 35).
The employer during the time herein involved had two
group insurance policies with the Aetna Life Insurance Company, one of these policies provided for certain payments in
event of temporary disability resulting from causes which
were non-compensable under the Workmen's Compensation
Act, the other provided for certain payments in event of death
or permanent disability whether or not such death or disability resulted from causes which were compensable under.
said Act. The claimant on or about March 15th and June
28th, 1943, filed claim and received the amounts payable under the first of these policies and about October 20th, 1943.
filed claim and received Fifteen Hundred Dollars which
was payable under the second of the above policies.
71/$
*There is no conflict in the evidence presented by this
record as to the material facts. The Commission, however, is seemingly of the opinion that it could disregard claimant's testimony because of what it considers impeaching circumstances. As the claimant contends that the impeaching
circumstances relied on by the Commission are insufficient, a
discussion of said circumstances with citations to the record
to avoid repetition will be found in the Argument.
ARGUMENT.

Claimant's Position.
The contention of the claimant is that the osteoarthriti~
which has permanently disabled the claimant was in a latent
and quiescent state prior to the claimant's jump from the bi11
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about February 7, 1943, as testified to by the claimant and
employer's witness Taylor; that the medical testimony in thib
record shows that a latent and quiescent osteoarthritis probably will be accelerated and made active by such a jump;
that here the recognized symptoms of osteoarthritis first became manifest immediately after said jump and have ever
since progressed and caused the claimant the loss of the use
of both of his feet; that it is impossible to separate the present stage of said osteoarthritis from its ag·gravation by the
jump and that the jump is properly classed as the proximate cause of the plaintiff's present condition and is compensable.
s• ·This contention of the claimant is substantially · a
paraphrase of Spratley, J. 's language in delivering the
opinion of this Court in Ellis v. Co1nmonwealth (1944), 182
Va. 293, at 305; where he said:
"If, however; it be still contended that the sarcoma existed prior to the accident., it must have been latent and
quiescent, so far as the record discloses. We are told that
a trauma may cause a latent sarcoma to become active and
accelerated, and since here the recog·nized indicia of sarcoma
became manifest immediately after the accident and progressively increased until the leg was amputated, if there was
a latent sarcoma, it seems to us impossible to separate the
injury from its aggravation, and aggravation is properly
classed as a proximate cause of disability."
The legal principle involved and upon which the claimant relies is stated in Syllabus 2 of the opinion as follows:
''Under the Workmen's Compensation Act, causal connec. .
tion is established when it has be·en shown that an employee
has received a compensable injury which materially aggravates or accelerates a pre-existent latent disease which becomes an immediate and direct cause of his disability.''
This principle has been applied in other cases by this Court
to such conditions and diseases as cancer in 1:Vinchester Milling Company v. Sencendiver (1927), 148 Va. 388 and pneumonia in Jus.tice v. Panther Coa,l Compwny (1939), 173 Vfl. 1
and lAberty Mutual Insurance Company v. Money (1939),
174 Va. 50 and is well settled.
In this case claimant's condition is due to acute osteoarthritis in both feet. The symptoms of this disease are severe
pain and swelling in the feet. In other words, when the con-

6

Supreme Court of Appeals of Virginia

•

• .. I

dition is in an acute state it can be deter1nined by inspec9* tion. •on November 6th, 1942, claimant was examined
by Doctor Tyler, a physician of the employer, before being
employed. The report of this examination is Exhibit A. Doctor Tyler there states: "Lower Extremities-0. K.'' Such
report further shows that claimant was to be employed in the
store room. It is a fair inference that Doctor Tyler knew thH
extent of the use that claimant would have to make of his
feet in employment in the store room. He, however, .found
him employable for that purpose and said in his report:
''General Appearance-good.'' It is clear then that the
osteoarthritis in the acute stage that developed after claimant's jump in February, 1943, did not exist when claimant was
employed in early November, 1942.
The uncontradicted testimony of claimant and employer's
witness Taylor, as to the beginning of the severe pain and
swelling in bis feet., which has since continued, and is now
diagnosed as his present osteoarthritic condition is that such
pain and swelling began with the jump by claimant from a bin
in the store room with a fifty pound bag of bolts in his arms
about February 6th, 7th, or 8th, 1943. Prior to that time he
had used his feet to the more than ordinary extent required
by his duties and he had climbed upon and jumped from the
bins without abnormal or disabling results (R., pp. 4, 5, 10,
12., 38, 41, 42 and 44).
10•
~under such testimony and in the light of the applicable authorities, in particular, Byrd v. Stonega Coke
and Goal Oo mpany (1944), 182 Va. 212, it is submitted that
from common experience the only conclusion that can be
properly drawn on this record i.s that the present disabling·
stage of claimant's osteoarthritic condition was brought about
and caused by said jump.
As to the medical testimony, the Commission finds that the
claimant's disability has been agg·ravated and accelerated by
a continued trauma (R., pp. 94 and 95). Yet, it finds that the
evidence shows that the trauma, resulting from the jump of
February 7th, could not have accelerated or aggravated claimants osteoarthritis (R., p. 92). The findings are clearly contradictory and without support in the evidence. Dr. Hawkins
and Dr. Emmett., who are the only witnesses in this particular,
testified that it was their opinion that the claimant's osteoarthritis had its primary origin in an old syphilitic infection (R.,
pp. 54 and 73). But they also testified that in their opinion
osteoarthritis could be solely caused· by trauma (R., pp. 53
and 77) and that a jump, such as that made by claimant on
February 7., 1943, would accelrate and aggravate claimant's
osteoarthritic condition (R., pp. 55, 56 and 77).
1
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*NOTICE.

In this connection the Commission's opinions quote the letter of claimant to employer, dated October 20, 1943 (R., Ex.
C-1); the employer's reply thereto .,dated October 25th, 1943
(R., Ex. C-2) and the Commission's letter to claimant dated
· November 5, 1943 ( R., p. 99). In the light of this correspondence, if claimant was relying solely on his letter of October
20th, 1943, to the employer as notice of the accident involved
in this matter, it is submitted that a clear waiver by the employer as ·to any insufficiency of said letter of October 2oth,
1943, as notice is sl1own. Certainly the employer has wholly
failed to show, in fact has not even attempted to show~ that
he was in any wise prejudiced by any deficiency in said letter
of October 20th, 1943.
However, claimant is not solely relying on said letter of
October 20th, 1943, as notice to the employer in this case. His
unimpeached and uncontradicted testimony is that immediately upon his jumping from said bin to the floor of the
store room with the resulting pain and suffering he reported
the occurrence and his condition to Davis and Taylor, two of
his foreman or supervisors (R., pp. 6, 11 and 15). The transcript in this case shows that employer's witness Taylor
12• corroborated claimant. Taylor testified ~in this connec- ·
tion as fallows :
'' By Commissioner Robinson:
''Q. Did he, at any time ,,tell you about an accidenU
'' .A. I will tell you, so many things were said. He did come
to me one time and said he jumped in the bin and hurt his
feet. I don't remember which one, but I remember well saying we supplied ladders for the upper bins. We have a dozen
or so ladders and if you use a ladder there is no chance to
get hurt.''
''By Mr. Ferguson:
"Q. What did he say about hurting his feet?
'' A. He said he hurt his feet'' (R., p. 41).
' 'By l\tir. Collins :
"Q. Mr. Taylor, as I understand you, you told him to go
to the Clinic when he told you about this accident., but you
don't know whether he went or noH is that righU
'' A. Yes, sir.
''Q. You said that was around February and he complained
the whole time after that?
'' A. Yes, sir'' (R., p. 44).
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In the case of Department of Game ~ I nla;nd Fisheries v.
Joyce (1927), 147 Va. 89, where the employee had failed to
give any notice other than oral notice to his supervisors our
Supreme Court discussed the whole subject of the no13• tice required by the ::tWorkmen's Compensation Act and
in its opinion delivered by Chichester, J., said:
"The commission seems to have uni/ ormly held that, where
there was no written notice, but that where a foreman or superior officer had actual knowledge of the occiirrence of an
accident or death within a reasonable time after the accident
or death occurred and no preju.dice to the employer's rights
was shown, this was sufficient notice utzder this provision of
the statute. Semon v. J . .A. Esser Coke Co., 4 0. I. C. 257;
Witt v. Wise Coke Co., 7 0. I. C. 517; Morton v. Richmond
Cedar Works, 3 0. I. C. 16; Croghan v. Capital City Lunch,
4 0. I. C. 20; Turner v. John E. Hughes Tobacco Co., 3 0. I.
C. 607; Sykes v. Ulen Contracting Co., 2 0. I. C. 120; Tanner
v. Swift <t Co., 3 0. I. C. 653.
'' This court has, in effect, given its approval to this interpretation of the statute. See .American Mutual Liabi"lity Insurance Co. v. Harnilton, 145 Va ..... , 135 S. E. at page 22 ..
"We agree with the commission in its construction of section 23 • • •. '' (Italics supplied.)

Ag·ain in Maryland Casualty Company v. Robinson (1928),
149 Va. 307, where the injury occurred between November
22nd and 26th, 1926, but notice of ,claim was not given until
early in February, 1927, because the :claimant did not learn
until that time that be had suffered a hernia as result of
such accident and had not attributed such pain as he suffered
to such accident, Prentis P. in delivering the opinion of our
Supreme Court said:
"The reason for the failure to give the notice sooner is
clearly shown. The. employee was conscious of inconvenience
and soreness in his left side, but he did not know that he had
suffered the hernia for which he afterwards claimed, and he
did not attribute his pain to the accident• * •.
14•
., '• • • The req'ltirement of notice necessarily implies
knowledge of the injury for which claim is made. In
this case it was not only impracticable but impossible to give
the notice before the claimant first learned of the hernia
thro.ugh the external manifestation.
''It is also apparent that the employer was not in any way
prejudiced by the delay.
·
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''While the burden of showing a reasonable excuse for such
delay in giving notice is upon the claimant., after this is shown
to the satisfaction of the commission, then the burden is upon
the employer to show that he has been prejudiced by the delay. In this case, as we have indicated, the notice was given
as soon as practicable, the excuse for the delay is fully explained, and the employer has not been prejudiced.'' (Italics
supplied.)
Claimant, upon this record, is clearly in a better situation
than Robinson was. Claimant testified time and again that.,
until about October, 1943, when Dr. Emmett finally advised
him, he did not realize the nature, seriousness or extent of
the injuries that he had suffered as a result of said jump (R.,
pp. 7, 12, 22, 25, 35, 37 and Ex. D). As stated he gave notice
to his foremen or supervisors immediately upon the occurrence of the accident (R., pp. 11., 15 and 41) which Robinson
did not do. Here, as in the Robinson case, the employer, although having the burden of proof, has not even attempted to
show it was prejudiced at all.
It is accordingly submitted that the decisions of this Court
in the Joyce Case, supra, and the Robinson Case, S'llpra, control the instant case and that the decision of the Commission as to want of notice from the claimant is clearly er"
roneous.
·
15•
*In this connection said decision seems to consider it
material that the claimant in his application for compensation, upon the form forwarded him by the Commission,
under date of November 5., 1943, erroneously stated the date
of his accident as June 28th, 1943. The circumstances under
which such form application was filed are fully disclosed by
the correspondence referred to above. _Even if such application were a common law pleading certainly it should be permissible for the claimant to amend said application to show
the true date of his accident as February, 1943. Moreover,
Workmen's Compensation proceedings are not common law·
actions. As our Supreme Court said through Hudgins, J., in
the Byrd C.ase, supra:
"The Workmen's Compensation .Ast •was adopted for the
benefit of employees nd their dependents. It shou.ld be liberally const'l'ued in order to attalin the desired results. The
strict rules 'of common law actions should not be applied. In
such actions usually the parties are dealing at arm's length
from inception of the incidents leading to the actions. This·
is not true of the employer and the employee under the Work-

•
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men's Compensation law. Settlement between the parties
without litig·ation is encouraged and is made in the great majority of cases. The employee usually reposes confidence in
his employer and expects the employer to aid rather than
hinder him in obtaining compensation for accidental injuries."
(Italics supplied.)
The application filed by claimant is clearly the Commission's
form application forwarded him by the Commission under
Section 58 of the Workmen's Compensation Law and not a
notice under either Section 23 or Section 24.
16*

*The Accident.

It is submitted that the Commission's conclusion that claim,
ant failed to establish that his disability is the result of an
injury by accident is without competent evidence to support
it. As above stated, claimant consistently and repeatedly
testified that he had had no abnormal trouble or difficulty with
his feet or symptoms of his disabling osteoarthritic condition until after he had made said jump from the bin of about
February 7th, 1943. In this the. claimant is not only uncontradicted and unimpeached but is corroborated by employer's
witness Taylor (R., pp. 40-45). Taylor was claimant's supervisor or foreman (R., p. 40). He was called and testified not
on behalf of the claimant but by the employer (R., pp. 11 and
39). The only portion of his testimony that could possibly .
be construed as supporting the Commission's conclusion is:
'' By Mr. Ferguson:
'' Q. Had he been complaining about his feet before the
time he jumped down in this bin?
'' A.. I don't recall'' (R.., p. 42).
This Court in Dixon v. Norfolk Shipbitilding and Dry Dock
Corpora.tion (1944), 182 Va. 185, held that testimony of this
type does not give rise to a conflict in the evidence. The
Commission does not attempt to assign any reason for
17* completely disregarding Taylor's *testimony except perhaps that he was a friend ·of the claimant. But the record shows that he was a friend of the claimant only in the
sense that foremen and supervisors are friends of employees
under them. He was clearly at the beck and call of the employer. If any presumed bias on his part is to be considered,
there can be no doubt that his actual position with the employer as a foreman or supervisor influenced his testimo._ny
and not any assumed friendship with the claimant.
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. The Commission assigns as its reason for disregarding
claimant's uncontradicted testimony certain circumstances
which it takes to be prior inconf3istent statements of omissions impeaching claimant. One of these circumstances is
the supposed failure of the claimant to give notice to the employer of his jump of February 7th, 1943, ancl the effect thereof. There was no such failure as is shown not only by the
testimony of the claimant but also by the testimony of the.
employer's witness Taylor. Another of such circumstances
is the statement of claimant in his application of November
20th, 1943, that the accident for which he sought compensation occurred on June 28th, 1943. This was clearly an error
on claimant's part in :filling out one of· the Commissions
forms which was forwarded to him by the Commission. In
his notice to Taylor in February, 1943 (R., p. 41), bis statements to· the Clifton Forge hospital in August and September,,
1943 {R., p. 68), and his application for permanent dis18* ability insurance ~in October, 1943 (R., Ex. F. 1, 2, 3
and 4), the claimant uniformly stated that the ac-Oident
occurred and his disability began in February, 1943. He was
attended by Doctors Courtn_ey and Williams therefor as early
as March 8th, 1943 (R., Ex. E-1). Yet the Commission attempts to hold that because of his error in stating the date of
his accident in his application of November 20th, 1943,, his
testimony in March, 1944, that the accident occurred in February, 1943, was an afterthought which only occurred to him
after November 20th, 1943. Clearly claimant in filling out
the application form erroneously gave the date he took a sick
furlough from his employment as the date of his accident.
Another of such circumstances relied on by the Commission
is the supposed failure of the· claimant to advise Doctors
Courtney, Hawkins or Emmett of said jump and the effects
thereof. Claimant's testimony in these particulars as to
Doctor Courtney is not positive. As to Doctor Hawkins it
is positive (R., pp. 15 and 32)~ Doctor Hawkins testified that
his records in this particular were incomplete and inaccurate
but he knows that the· claimant told him about injurying his
feet on the floors of the employer's plant in February, 1943
(R.,- p. 59). As to Doctor Emmett, he relies on the history
of the case on information furnished him by Doctor Hawkins (R.., p. 72). Claimant necessarily told his doctors the
.
type of work he was doing and the use of his feet he
19<+ made therein. *He naturally made no distinction between climbing upon and jumping from the bins. Neither
he nor any of his doctors were dealing with his condition oh
the ·basis that it was ·purely accidental in O!igin. This ·wa$
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natural. The term "accident" as used in the Workmen's
Compensation law is a word of art and neither a medical or
a lay term but a legal one. Most, if not all, doctors and laymen would not think of a jump from a bin of about three feet
resulting in the acceleration and bringing into an acute stage
of an osteoarthritic conditio1i as an accident. Likewise, the
ordinary layman or physician would not regard as an accident such things as a homicide by a fellow employee as was
held in Farmers Manufacturing Company v. Warfel (1926),
144 Va. 98; an assault in connection with a robbery as was
held in Continental Life ltisu,rance Cornpany v. Goitgh (1934),
161 Va. 755; a slight lick or blow as was held in Fox v. Bach
(1931), 156 Va. 609, or heat stroke as held in the Byrd Case,
supra. If any explanation were needed of the attitude that
claimant took as to his condition, it is apparent that employer's clinic doctors, whom he first consulted, advised him
that his condition was due to neuritis (R.~ pp. 24 and 25).
After receiving such advice from doctors neither claimant
nor any other layman would think of discussing his condition with doctors or laymen in terms of an accident. Certainly, neuritis neither medically or in common parlance is an
accident.
20*
:it Another of such circumstances relied on by the Commission is the permanent disability claim made to the
Aetna life Insurance Company by the claimant under the
group insurance policy of the employer. The employer introduced this in evidence under the mistaken assumption that
claimant was not entitled to permanent disability benefits under said group policy unless his condition was due to a noncompensable injury. Employer, however, later recognized
its error in this particular and acknowledged the same to
Robinson, Commissioner, by its letter of March 31st, 1944.
Under these circumstances, it is difficult to see the relevancy
here of such reports. In fact, Doctor Hawkins, when examined with respect thereto, said that the only matter which
was considered as material in making out such reports was
the permanency· of the disability (Hawkins, R .., p. 64). Once
it is recognized that the claimant's injury, disease, condition,
infirmity, illness, accident or disability is osteoarthritis, that
it is permanent., and that the only material matter to the insurance company was its permanency, there is nothing in claimant's reply to question 7 on his preliminary report (R., Ex.
F-1) nor to his doctors' replies to question 4 on their reports
(R., Ex's. F-2., F-3 and F-4) that is in the slightest inconsistent with his present claim or their present testimony. As
to the temporary disability claims under the group policy;

Humphries v. N. N. Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Co.

13

if the · employer did not know the exact terms and provisions of its policies which it is clear that it did not
21" *from said letter of March 31st, 1943, certainly the employee should not be held to have known them. It it also
clear that claimant did not know or realize the extent or
seriousness of his disability from said jump until months
after said claims were made in March and June, 1943.
Another of such circumstances relied on by the Commission
is claimant's letter of September 20th, 1943, to Taylor (R.,
Ex. D). It is difficult to see upon what possible grounds the
Commission could conclude that after claimant had told Taylor of his jump from the bin in February, 1943, and the consequences thereof, the claimant, on pain of being impeached
should have repeated such statement to Taylor in the letter of
September 20th., 1943, informing him that claimant could not
return to work ~nd requesting him to arrange for the payment of any balance that might be due from the employer to
claimant. Moreover, the text of the letter does not warrant
the effect the Commission attempts to give to it. There is
nothing inconsistent in claimant's statement of his opinion
that if he had used arch supports he would not have been
disabled. It is quite possible bad he done so he· would .have
suffered no ill effects from the jump in February, 1943, but
that in no way affects his testimony that his present disabled
condition resulted from said jump. The letter of Sep22• tember 20th, 1943, actually shows the claimant's •unwillingness to accept the fact of the seriousness, permanency and extent of his injuries, even after extensive examinations by Doctors Hawkins and Emmett; his belief in
. the efficacy of such things as rest, bathing his feet and arch
support; and his desire to retain his position with the employer rather than any intention of seeking either insurance
benefits or compensation from the employer.
·
The Commission's reliance on various circumstances discussed above as impeaclling the claimant is necessarily based
upon the assumption that the claimant in fact, and not constructively, knew the leg·al and medical meaning of the various
terms and provision not only of the Workmen's Comuensation Act but also of the employer's group insurance policy as
well. Only upon that assumption can any of such circumstances be construed as irreconcilable, conflicting or incon~istent with his testimony that his present disabled condition
had its origin in and resulted from said jump in February.
1943. Clearly, there is no evidence in this record to warrant
any such assumption.
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It is submitted that the decision in the Ellis case, supra,
should control in this case. In that case, the employee failed
to give any notice at all of his alleged accident of December
5, 1941, until the physicians had advised him that his leg
would have to be amputated for chondro-sarcoma. He left
his employment on December 21, 1941, not upon a sick
23* furloug·h but *upon a vacation. There was credible evidence that he had symptoms of the disabling sarcoma
prior to December 5th and it was admitted that he had had
other minor leg· trouble before that date. Nevertheless this
Court held, that his alleged accident of December 5th was
compensable, and in delivering its opinion, at page 304.,
through Spratley, J., said:
'' If there be any fair doubt aboitt the facts, they shoitld be
resolved in favor of the claimant. Scott v. Will-is, 150 Va. 260,
142 S. E. 400." (Italics supplied.)
.

If this principle, which is well established is applied in the
instant case, the decision or award of June 12th, 1941, must
be reversed.
CONCLUSION.
For the reasons hereinabove assigned and discussed, Your
Petitioner respectfully submits that an appeal should be
gTanted him from said award and decision of the Industrial
Commission of Virginia of J·une 12th, 1944, and that on the
hearing of such appeal said decision or award should be
reversed.
Petitioner adopts this petition as his opening brief in this
case as provided under Rule 9, Section 9 of the Rules of this
Court.
The foregoing petition will be delivered or presented to the
Honorable Herbert B. Gregory, one of the Justices of
24* this *Court, at his office in Roanoke, Virginia, on July
11th, 1944.
Counsel for petitioner states that on July 7th, 1944, he
mailed to vV. McL. Ferguson, Attorney at Law., Newport
News, Virginia, who is opposing Counsel in this case, a true
copy of this petition stating that it was to be delivered or
presented as aforesaid to the Honorable Herbert B. Gregory,
one of the Justices of this Court, at his office in the City of
Roanoke, Virg-inia, as required under Rule 9, Section 4, of
- the Rules of this Court.
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Counsel for petitioner desires to state orally the reasons
for reviewing the award or decision complained of.
The foregoing petition is accompanied by check for $1.50
payable to the Clerk of this Court as required under Rule 9,
Section 3.
Respectfully submitted.,
EDGAR vV.A.LLACE HUMPHRIES,
By Counsel
HALE COLLINS,
.Attorney for the Petitioner,
231 Main Street,
Covington., Virginia.
State of Virginia,
County of .Alleghany, to-wit:

I, Hale Collins, an .Attorney at Law,, practicing in the Su. preme Court of Appeals of Virginia do hereby certify
25* that it is •my opinion that the final award or decision
of the Industrial Commission of Virginia of June 12th,
1944, in the proceedings of Edgar Wallace Humphries v. Newport News Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company, a corporation, Self Insured, should be reviewed and reversed by the
Supreme Court of Appeals of Virginia.
,0

HALE COLLINS.
Filed 7/11/44.
H.B. G.
September 4, 1944. Appeal awarded by the court. Bond
$300.
M. B. W.
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RECORD
Edgar Wallace Humphries, Claimant,

v.

Newport News Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company, F.illlployer, Self Insured ..
Claim No. 706-926..
Claimant appeared in person.
Hale Collins, Attorney-at-Law, Covington, :Virginia, for the
claimant.
W. McL. Ferguson, Attorney-Workmen's Compensation,
Newport News Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company, Newport News, Virginia, for the defendant ..
Hearing before Commissioner Robinson at Newport News,
Virginia, March 29, 1944.
All witnesses having been duly sworn, the following testimony was taken~

0

o

Commissioner Robinson: Are there any stipulations Mr.
Ferguson!
Mr. Ferguson: We can stipulate as to Doctor Longaker's
testimony.
·
Commissioner Robinson: Is the average weekly wage sufficient to give the maximum compensation in the event of recovery? $48.60 is what the wage chart shows.
Mr. Ferguson: That is agreed to.
Commissioner Robinson: You say you can stipulate- Doctor
Longaker 's testimony 'l
Mr. Ferguson: I offer physical examination record prior
to employment, which is a copy, but he has agreed
page 2 ~ to let it go in:
(Physical Examination Record card, dated November 6,.
1942, is received, filed and marked Exhibit A.)

Mr. Ferguson: We are willing to stipulate that, if Doctor
Longaker were called, he would testify that he talked with
the claimant on June 28, 1943, at which time he talked to
the claimant and he advised the doctor that his feet were hurt-
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Edgar Wallace Humphries.
ing him and be would go home and we will stipulate that, at
this conference Doctor Longaker had with this claimant, no
mention was made of any accident, and that the Clinic records
do not show an accident as having been reported by this
claimant.
Commissioner Robinson: Have you got a deposition you
want to put inf
Mr. Ferguson: vVe took the depositions of Doct.ors J. M.
Emmett and R. P. Hawkins in Clifton Forge on the 20th of
this month.
Commissioner Robinson: Are they being submitted jointly
or by the claimanU
1\fr. Ferguson: They are his depositions and I don't know
whether he wants to file them.
Mr. Collins: We hnd the Notary Public write them up
and we think the Notary Public forwarded them to Richmond.
Commissioner Robinson: If they have not already been
filed, you will want to file them¥
l\fr. Collins: Yes, sir.
page 3 ~ Commissioner Robinson: What is your detense,
Mr. Ferguson?
Mr. Ferguson: Our defense is a general denial. We had
no notice of accident, either direct or jndirect, if an accident
is claimed. None of our lVIedical Department have seen the
man as a medical case, other than Doctor Longaker; that Doctor Longaker saw him in conection with a claim under the
Group Life Insurance Policy. We are not in a position to
admit anything at this time.
Commissioner Robinson: The burden is on the claimant to
prove his accident.

EDGAR vVALLACE HUMPHRIES.
By Mr. Collins:
Q. Your name is Edgar Wallace Humphries!
A.. Yes, sir.
Q. And you were formerly employed by tI1e Newport News
Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company f
A. Yes, sir.
Q. When was the last time you worked for them; approximately?
·
A. June 28th. I think I left the morning of the 28th of
tTune; Sunday night, June 28th.
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Q." Mr. Humphries, since that time, since June 28th, have
you spent some time in the Clifton Forge Hospital with Doctor Emmett and Doctor Hawkins?
page 4 ~ A. Yes, sir.
Q. Since June 28th they have notified you that the
condition of your feet is such that you are permanently dis.:.
abled?·
A. Yes, sir; that is what Doctor Emmett told me.
Q. When was it they notified yo.u of their decision in that
matter; approximately?
A. I was there four days the first of August, when I went in
the hospital. I was there four days and nights and he released me.
Q. Shortly before the time you went to work for the Newport News Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company were you
having any trouble with your feet, other than what the normal
person would have with normal use?
A. No, sir; I never have had any trouble, except my feet
being tired at night and when I would get up the next morning, my feet would be all right.
Q. When was it and what brought about the first suffering
or symptoms of your present condition f
·
A. First symptoms of my present condition Y
Q. First, let me ask you this: What were you doing!
A. I was filling an order.
Q. What was your classification Y
A. They bring orders in like a grocery store; one called
for one hundred and fifty bolts and nuts.
Q. You worked in the stock room Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And were filling orders from the stock room Y
A. Yes, sir.
page 5 ~ Q. What were you doing and what brought about
your pain and suffering that you are now afflicted
with?
A. I was filling this order. I- don't know what it called
for. I was in the U. S. bin and I was filling an order for
bolts and nuts, using the largest paper bag and I was straddling the bin and got the bolts and nuts and when I :finished·
filling the order, I come down off the bin. I jumped from
the last one to the floor and there ·is always a lot of little
stuff that fell out on the floor and I jumped down and my right
· f oo~ hurt worse than the left and the pain hit me and went
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up to my knees and everything turned black before me. There
was an empty keg there and I got back up and sat on it for
four minutes. I thought I had sprained my ankle and the
right one hurt and the left one, too, and got worse from that
day on.
Q. Is this stock room you have bins in there?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. With stock in them?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. When you made this jump, what distance was it from
the floor?
A. About as high as the banister here (indicating).
Q. This height!
A. Yes, sir. Not quite that high (About three feet). I
think the bottom bin was three feet and the bag was fifty
pounds.
By Commissioner Robinson:
·Q. Had you ever jumped down like that before!
A. Not that one bin, but I had. They had ladders but were
not using it at this time because the board gave way
page 6 } and eve·rybody was scared to hold on it and they
put new ones up. I have stepped before, but not
having pains like that. I thought I stepped on a rolling
bolt, but the pain was the same as you run a knife up there.
By Mr. Collins:
Q. Now, as I understand it, Mr. Humphries, these bins are
built in stacks up to the ceiling?
A. Yes, sir; just like shelves where you put canned groceries
on. They have got a board up there one inch high to keep
the stuff from falling. out.
By Commissioner Robinson:
·· Q. They are material bins 7
A. Yes, sir.
By Mr. Collins:
Q. Now, when that happened, did you report to anyone that
you had had an accident f
.
A. Mr. Davis was there and I told ]\fr. Davis I believe I
had twisted my unkle. He is the stock boss. I told him- that
my feet were hurting and I couldn't make it and he said, '' I
got an order to change you to the annex'' and he said, '' Take
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Edgar W alla.ce Humphries.,
the nuts off the bolts". He said that he had an order for me
to be changed to be off my feet.
Q. From that time did your feet continue to pain you?
A. Yes, sir. I walked every step in misery.
Q. Then, after that, did you see Doctor Longaker?
A.- No, sir. The only day I saw Doctor Longaker was the
day I left. I was told-Doctor Courtney told me that Mr.
Orr wanted me to see one of their doctors and maypage 7 ~ be I could be treated by their doctor and they would
.
mail me my insurance. I said, "If they got a good
doctor that will be all right". I said I reckon I better go to
the best doctor. He said, "Suppose you go to Doctor Longaker". I showed him my feet and told him what Doctor Courtney and Doctor Williams said and he said, "Let me see the
pink slip you got". He said I would be off at least thirteen
weeks.
Q. Before you saw Doctor Longaker you saw Doctor Courtney?
.A.. Yes, sir ; several times.
Q. Did you see Doctor Courtney soon after this occurrence?
A. Yes, sir. I asked some of the people who was the best
doctor and they said Doctor Courtney and Mr. Davis said h~
was next to where I lived.
Q. When you saw Doctor Courtney and Doctor Longaker
and when yon complained to them, did you know yon had a
serious permanent condition with your feeU
A. No, sir. I thought it was a strain and something that
would clear up. I thought it would clear up.
Q. And you never experienced any pains of that nature
prior to the time you jumped off the bins Y
A. No, sir.
Q. This is a statement Doctor Courtney gave you f
A. Yes, sir.
Q. That is dated March 15th and signed by Doctor Courtney and Doctor Williams, I presume?
A. Yes, sir. I went home that date. I stayed home three
weeks and stayed in bed practically all that time and my
feet got better. Those were his instructions, to
page 8 ~ give my feet complete rest.
Commissioner Robinson: Do you want to file it t
Mr. Collins: Yes, sir; please.

I
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(Statement of Doctors C. B .. Courtney and J. S. Williams,
dated March 15, 1943, is received, filed and marked Exhibit
B.)
By Mr. Collins :
Q. Mr. Humphries., you live at Covington, Virginia, do you
noU
A. Yes, sir.
Q. The C. & 0. Hospital is at Clifton Forge, ten miles from
Covington?
·
.A.. Yes, sir; ten or eleven.
Q. Doctor J. M. Emmett is the Chief Surgeon of the C. & O.
Railroad and in charge of that hospital?
.A.. Yes, sir.
Q. And you knew Doctor Emmett?
A. I knew him quite a while.
Q. In your conversation and the treatment of your feet by
Doctor Courtney, was any other doctor suggested and did he
refer you to Doctor Emmett? .
A. You mean Doctor Courtney T
Q. Doctor Courtney?
A. I told him where I lived and I told him that I would go
to Doctor Emmett and Doctor Hawkins and Doctor Courtney
said, "You·couldn't go to a finer man than Doc1:or Emmett".
That is all the dealings I had with him.
Q. When was it you told Doctor Courtney you were going
to see Doctor Emmett?
. page 9 ~ A. That was just a little while before June 28th.
He gave me a note. I stayed out a week or two.
I told Mr. Taylor, I said, ''I am sorry I can't work". I told
him I was going home and he said, ""\Vait until I see Mr.
Farinholt". He said he would sec if it would not be possible
to put me on the fo~r to twelve shift and the work is not half
as hard, and he would put me on the four to twelve shift und
he did.
Q. Who was that?
A. Mr. Taylor-Mr. Lloyd Taylor. He worked nnd<!r M.r.
Farinholt.
Q. Yon did not suffer any with your feot prior to the time
you jumped from the bins on the floor f
A. No, sir.
Q. And since that time you have had pain and swelling 1
A. All the time.
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Q. And if you use your feet at all, that is, walk at all, they
swell up¥
A. Yes, sir. From my home, I can't ,valk uptown and I triecl
it once and got half way and had to call a taxi. I can start
out and walk a block and have to stop.
Q. When you were employed you saw Doctor Longaker or
whatever doctor that examined you 1
A. I didn't see Doctor Longaker. I don't know what the
name of the doctor was.
Q. You saw some doctor!
A. Two doctors.
page 10 ~ Q. And you answered the questions they asked
you1
A. Yes, sir ; two doctors.
Q. Then, you are definite and positive that the ailment you
have now and your present condition started from the time,
you jumped off that shelf?
A. Yes, sir. I never had any pain, except my feet tired
and Mr. Taylor said, "My feet did the same way when I
started", and he got a pair of thick soles. I went downtown
and got the same thing· and the tiredness left me, other than
working all day, my feet would be tired.
Q. And you had the usual insurance policy the company has
and some time after September or October you .filed claim
and collected under that policy since the first of the year Y
A. Yes, sir; with the Aetna people.
By Commissioner Robinson:
Q. Did they pay you 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. How much!
A. $1,500.00. That is the face value of the policy. I wrote
Doctor Longaker. He' told me I was entitled to the face value
of the policy. I have his letter at home. I am sure I have
it.
By Mr. Collins:
Q. At the same time or approximately the same time you
made claim to the insurance company you wrote the Newport
News Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Companv or the Industrial
Commission Y
..
A. Yes, sir.
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Q. And along about that time you came in my
pag·e 11 } office and talked to me about the case?
A. I was talking to ,f ohn T. and you walked in
and I talked to you.
By Mr. Ferguson:
_
Q. Mr. Humphries, how did you get from here to the station?
A. I walked from the station up here. I couldn't get a
taxi.
Q. The station is on 22nd Street and River Road and it is
down hill. You have got to walk uphill slightly to get here 7
A. Yes, sir; it is sloping.
Commissioner Robinson: How· i:nany blocks is it from here
to the depot 1
Mr. Ferguson: Five blocks, about.
By Mr. Ferguson:
Q. I don't believe you fixed the date you jumped down off
this bin, Mr. Humphries. ·when did that happen?
A. No, sir; I can't tell the exact date. I don't remember
the exact dat_e, but it was along in February, latter part of
February. In January I went home. My father died and was
buried.
By Commissioner Robinson:
Q. When you went to this fellow, your superior, did you
tell him you had had an accident or your feet were hurting
you?
A. Mr. Taylor?
Q. The straw boss f
A. Mr. Davis, and Mr. Taylor came down later.
Mr. Ferguson: I would like to get him down here. This
is the first notice I have gotten about him.
page 12 ~ By Mr. Ferguson:
Q. What did you tell Mr. Taylor or Mr. Davis?
I believe you said you talked to Mr. Davis first.
A. I talked to Mr. Davis and Mr. Taylor came up and said
they had sent word to put me on the four to twelve shift. I
told him I was filling an order and jumped off this bin and it
felt like my feet fell out from under me. I didn't have any
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feet. They were killing me. He said, '' I got an order for the
annex and how about you sitting down and taking the nuts
off the bolts the balance of the evening Y'' and I said, '' All
right", and I did that.
Q. When did you think you had anything serious the matter
with your feet Y
·
A. The first time was when Doctor Emmett X-rayed them.
Q. When did you suspect you had some trouble with your
feetY
A. That is the only time I really thought I had anythi.ng
seriously wrong with my feet. I wouldn't have kept on work. ing if I had thought it was serious. I kept bathing my feet
with hot epsom salts water.
Q. It was not until you consulted Doctor Emmett and had
a thorough examination at the hospital at Clifton Forge 1
A. That is right. Doctor Courtney said I would have to
get off my feet and give them a rest.
Q. You did not take advantage of the medical facilities of
the Shipyard?
A. I went to the Shipyard twice and they put that light on
them.
Q. How many times Y
page 13 ~ A. Twice.
Q. When was thatf
A. That colored fellow in the back.
Q. They don't have a record of it.
A. Mr. Charlie Mallory was working on the same sllift.
He said he would take care of the things and I went and they
put that ray light on me.
Q. Did you tell them you had an accident Y
A. I didn't see a doctor. The nurse was there.
Q. The nurse makes reports.
A. One doctor called the nurse and said, ''Look at his feet:.
how tight they are".
Q. Did yon tell them about an accident?
A. I told them about my feet and that I had jumped off the
bin and the doctor called the nurse and said, ''Feel his feet,
how tight they are". I asked him how about going to Hot
Springs, Virginia, and taking baths and he said he thought
it would be a good thing to do. I asked Doctor Courtney
and he said he thought it would be a good thing to do.
Q. When you went to Clifton Forge and saw Doctor Emmett
and Doctor Hawkins, yon di'dn't tell them about this fall f
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A. Doctor Hawkins asked me what kind of work I was doing.
"Are you a painter f"
Q. Did you tell him you jumped off the bins?
A. I told· him I was climbing like a money and getting
material.
Q. You heard Doctor Emmett and Doctor Hawkins testify
that the history did not show that you had a traupage 14. ~ matic accident f
A. I didn't say I had an accident and I said
that is when it :first started and he asked me if I stood on a
painter's ladder.
Q. They asked for the background and you didn't say?
A. I wouldn't say I did or didn't.
Q. You heard them testify the other day and the only thing·
their hospital record showed was your personal history and
it didn't show any accidenU
A. I remember they testified.
Q. And they had the hospital records and examined them,
didn't they f
.A. I don't know word for word. I talked to Doctor Emmett
or Doctor Hawkins.
Q. They were making notes and had notes present of their
visits?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. On October 20th we had a letter from you in which you
do not state that you had an accident, but you state, '' I was
disabled while so employed and am now advised that such
disability which the doctors say is osteoarthritis, deformative
type, arose out of my employment and is permanent". That
is the nearest thing you claim as an accident. The Commission has the original letter. I would like to offer that in evi·
dence. Is that true 7
A. Read that again.
Q. (To the Commissioner) It is the first thing you have in
file. That is the letter you wrote tons, dated October 20, 1943
( Claimant is shown letter) ?
A. I remember that letter, but I didn't know I
page 15 ~ had to go into details about the things. I wrote
·
for the forms. I can't remember everybody I told
about the fall. I know I told Mr. Davis and Mr. Taylor
and I think Doctor Hawkins and Doctor Emmett.
Q. Did yon tell them why they were hurting you 7
A. You mean Doctor Emmett or the Shipyard?
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Q. Did you know why they were hurting you and did Mr.
Davis or anybody else!
A. I knew it after I made that little jump and I sat on the
barrel and I told them about it; and that I wouldn't be able
to stand on my feet and Mr. Davis said, "Stay around and
I will give you a job taking nuts off the bolts".
Q. Did you receive a letter from me under date of October
25, 1943, acknowledging· your letter of October 20, 1943, and
stating, "We have been unable to locate any record of an injury. Accordingly we have not made any report to the Industrial Commission. However, we are sending them a copy of
this letter, together with your letter of October 20, 1943, so
that they may be advised in the event you decide to make
a formal claim 1''
A. Yes, sir; I remember a letter of that kind. I think it
is in the file, Mr. Collins.
Q. Don't you understand that is a denial on our part tl1at
we knew ·of the accident?
A. I am not a lawyer.
Q. Didn't we say we didn't know about the claim?
. A. Yes, sir.
Q. Don't you think it was a fair thing to say when and ho,\
and where you were hurt t
page 16 ~ A. You said you had no record of my being at the
. Clinic. I was there three or four times.
Q. Not for accidental treatment. They will give you employee treatment, but if you don't say you are hurt, they
don't make a record of it.
· ...
A. No answer.
Q. Didn't you tell the employment office that you were ter·
minating your employment becatise 'of ill health?
-A. I did not quit. I came back down here to go to work in
October or November.
Q. I might not be correct as to dates, but you told them
that you were quitting on accomi-t of poor health; isn't that
true?
4. That might be true. I was down here to go to work and
Mr. Farinholt said I wasn't in ·shape and to lay off.
·
: Q. ·when making· application for hearing you still say you
had the advice of counsel ; didn't you tell him?
Mr. Collins: ·1 object to that, because the type of accident
is not one that a layman would know and in many cases it is
not known to the doctors at first, but I considered it was cov~

Humphries v. N. N. Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Co.

27

Edgar Wallace Huniphries.
ered by the Act and I don't feel that the claimant could say
this was an accident and it was not until a certain type of
examination was made that it was determined. I don't feel
that the claimant could answer the question.
Commissioner Robinson: The application for hearing say~,
''Osteoarthritis, dBformative type, depriving me
page 17 ~ permanently of the use of both feet, brought on by
my employment".
(Letter of the claimant addressed to the Newport News
Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company, dated October 20, 1943,
is filed herewith as Exhibit C-1 and their reply as 0-2.)
By Mr. Ferguson:
Q. Why didn't you state in your application when it asked
'''That the nature of my injury is as follows", how you were
urt or when you were hurt or something definite, indicating
that you had an accident; you are now claiming an accident?
A. I don't remember the exact date. I didn't pay no attention to it. I paid attention to it, but I thought I would
overcome it overnight.
By Commissioner Robinson:
Q. In your application you state that the accident
on the 28th of June and you have told your counsel
incident took place before the 28th of June.
A. I kept working, thinking my feet would get all
Q. You don't remember when you jumped off the
bins?
A. I think it was February some time.

occurred
that this
right.
material

By Mr. Ferguson:
Q. When you were talking back to M:r. Collins, wasn't it an
afterthought on your part?
A. No, sir; it was no afterthought. When was Doctor
Courtney's receipts? I can tell you when I went to see him. ·
Q. Let me ask you this: Doctor Courtney is not connected
with the Shipyard?
page 18 ~ A. No, sir. The Clinic doctors said see an out.
side physician.
Q. He is a private physician 1
A. Yes, sir.
, Q. Why did they recommend a private physician; wasn't
it because the Shipyard don't treat private patients 1
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A. They didn't say that, but they sent me outside twice.
I had the dysentery. They gave me some medicine but it
didn't do me any good. I had the dysentery and they sent
me to an outside physician.
Q. But for troubles that are more than a slight ailment,
it is up to the man to pay his own doctor!
A. No answer.
By Commissioner Robinson:
Q. On what grounds did you get the ins.urancef Did you
make claim that you had an accident or diseased condition
or whaU
A. I ·wrote Doctor Longaker and I told him that Doctor
Emmett told me I was crippled for life and wouldn't be able.
to work unless I could get a sitting down job and he said,
'In that case, you are entitled to the insurance".
Q. That does not pay for accident¥

M~. Ferguson: It pays for non-occupational accidents and
<lisability and death.
Mr. Collins: It said total disability and in the same clause
it had nothing to do with accident or anything.
Commissioner Robinson: If he was disabled from an accident, the Compensation Law would pay him.
page 19 } Mr. Collins·: If he is totally disabled from the
accident, the insurance pays him too.
Mr. Ferguson: His statement of this is. not my understanding of it.
By Mr. Ferguson=
Q. Mr. Humphries, you got temporary total disability under
the policy in March Y
A. I drew three weeks-$57 and something.
Q. From March 27th to April 8th!
A. $25.00 a week and I drew $57.00 and something. I came
back to work and Doctor Courtney said I wasn't able to work
· and to stay off.
Q. Did Doctor Courtney :fill ont the application f ·
A. ·Doctor Courtney and Doctor Williams.
Q. That insurance only covers non-occupational di~abilityf
A. No answer.
Q. You did get paid in March f
A. Yes, sir. They don't pay you for the :first seven day~
~·ou were off.
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Q. And in June you got thirteen weeks!
A. Yes, sir.
Q. For a temporary disability; not permanent disability r
A. That is when I went to Doctor Longaker and he wrote
the paper and said Mr. Orr would mail the checks to me.
Q. And later on you claimed a permanent disability and
got Doctor Emmett and Doctors Hawkins and Doc~
page 20 ~ tor Willia~s to fill out your blanks?
A. Doctor Johnson, you mean?
Q. You collected three times Y
A. I collected $57 .00 and something and for thirteen week::s
and I don't know how many dollars it was.
Q. That was $25.00 a week?
A. Yes, sir; and $30.00 a week. I got an increase in salary
and the insurance went up ..
Q. When did your increase start; sometime between March
and July?
A. I don't remember. It was right after I came back. I
got an increase in salary while off three weeks. When I came
back Mr. Farinholt said it wouldn't take effect until after
I went back two weeks, to see if my feet would hold out.
Q. Did you show him your feet Y
·
A. Yes, sir. I took my shoes and socks off and showed
.
him my feet.
Q. Did you ever describe this jumping down off the bins
you have described here this morning?
A. I don't remember whether I did.
Q. You stated to practically the first question that you
left the employment on June 28th; is that the date 7
A. Yes, sir. I wanted to malie a full week. I worked Sunday night and Monday I went to Doctor Longaker and Mr. Orr
and left that Monday afternoon.
Q. Mr. Orr is the adjuster for the insurance company?
A. Yes, sir.
page 21 ~ Q. Didn't you go by the office and tell them why
you were quitting?
A. I didn't quit.
Q. Did you tell them you were leaving?
A. I told them Doctor Courtney said I would have to be oft
an indefinite time. That is the. time suggested by the doctors
and he said, '' When are yon coming back Y'' and I told him I
didn't know and he said, '' Maybe he can treat you here and
you won't have to go home", because I was making more
money than th~ insurance company would pay me.
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Q. That is when you went to his office t
A. Yes, sir. The last notice Doctor Courtney gave me l
turned in to Mr. Davis or Mr. Farinholt.
Q. Did you have any previous trouble¥
A. No, sir.
Q. Did you have a toe amputated!
A. Yes, sir.
Q. That is trouble?
A. Yes, sir. In 1928 or 1929 we had a subdivision in Covington and I took a crow bar and we were building and digging holes and I w·as pulling on the crow bar and the boys
hit a rock and it glanced off and hit me on the toe. I asked
Doctor Ellis in Covington about it and he said, ")Vhy don't
you have it cut off; it is crooked and has a corn on it.'' I went
to the hospital and asked Doctor Burton about it and he
said he could cut it off and it wouldn't bother me.
Q. 1Vhen was that toe cut off ~1
page 22 ~ A. Two or three months before I come down here
to work.
Q. You had trouble and amputated your toe two or three
months before you came down here to world
A. My toe wasn't bothering me.
Q. You don't usually have a toe cut off unless it is bothering yout
. A. It was crooked and a corn was coming on it.
Q. It is not true that you had had no trouble with your feet;
you had had trouble with one foot?
.
A. Everybody will have a little corn and it was bothering
me and in the way and I had it cut off.
Q. You have described a severe pain and said everything
went black before you when you jumped down and landed on
both feet and yet you didn't think you would have any trouble·
until Doctor Emmett saw you in July 1
A. I thought I had twisted my anlde. I didn't know I would
have destruction of the bone.
Q. You did not think you had had anything serious enough
to call an accident!
A. No, sir; not at that time.
Q. You didn't think so until Doctor Emmett made a
thorough X-ray study and analysis of your feet 1
A. It liked to have killed me when I jumped and a littlerolling nut caught me in the ankle.
Q. Why didn't you tell the doctor at the Clinic!
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A. I thought it would be overcome by the next morning. .
Q. Some time after that you went to see Doctor Courtney,
who lives next door to you?
page 23 } A. Yes, sir; I saw him after it got to swelling.
He lives next to the dormitory I lived in and I
would see him coming in and going out.
Q. And Doctor Courtney filled out the blank and gave it to
. you to give the Aetna and you drew betwen two and three
weeks' disability payments 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did you tell Doctor Courtney about your falling or jump..
ing down?
A. Yes, sir. I explained to him the kind of work I was
doing.
Q. Did you tell him about an accident 1
A. I can't say I told him about the incident.
Q. You didn't tell him until you-you didn't think about
it until Doctor Emmett saw you f Doctor Courtney didn't
know about any past history pf your case?
A. I don't remember whether I told him, because I said I
didn't think it was. anything to it. I didn't run around and
tell everybody.
Q. ·when you went to Doctor Longaker on June 28th, you
were sent by the adjuster and not as a shipyard case?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And Doctor Longaker, at that time, said he thought yon
would be unable to work for thirteen weeks or longer?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And you drew thirteen weeks?
A. Yes, sir. Doctor Harris is the man I saw on the night
shift. Check on his name and see if you don't have
page 24 ~ a man by that name.
Q. You didn't think there was anything seriously
wrong until you had been crippled for some time?
A. When I asked him about what I was going to write Mr.
Farinholt, I had been in the hospital four days and Doctor
Emmett said, '' I will tell you something the next morning''.
He said, "You will not be able to go back to that job". He
said, "If you get a sitting down job, you could hold it, but
you are crippled for life".
Q. It looks like on September 20th or September 3oth you
wrote a letter to one of your friends about news in general
and asked him, "If I have any money at the office due me
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also any paid on bond, I would appreciate very much if you
will look after it for me".
· A. I think it was Mr. Taylor or l\ifr. Westfall.

Q. It starts '' Dear Loyd''¥
A. It is Lloyd Taylor.
Q. And yon wanted him to see if you had any back money
coming to you or anything on war bonds?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did he send it to you f
A. Yes, sir.
Q. I am going to read the beginning of it and ask yon if it
is true: '' The doctors at the Clifton Forge Hospital informed
me today after taking X-ray pictures again of my feet, that
I could not go back to work for several months if able to
go then. They claim I have a bone destruction in both feet
(cause of trouble undetermined). When my feet first started
to bother me last February, the Doctors in Newpage 25 ~ port News said it was neuritis". What doctors
said it was neuritis t
A. The doctors at the Clinic ; Doctor Harris was one of
them.
Q. - ' ' & treated me for neuritis, but when I had my f ect
X-rayed at the hospital they found I had a bone destruction,.
which started in the instep. Doctor Hawkins at the hospital;" You are talking about the hospital at Clifton Forge °l
A. Yes, sir.
Q. '' Asked me if I had been painting or climbing around
on a painter's ladder. I told him no, but explained to him
about climbing up & down the bins & he seemed to think that
was what started my trouble.'' Yon don't say anything about
falling down or anything about an accident. Yon do have
to do a lot of climbing Y
A. Climbing around aggravated it. He said climbing
around aggravated it.
Q. '' If I had of used a steel arch in my shoes protecting
my instep I would not of had this trouble, but it is too late
to worry over it now.'' Now, when you write your friend,
Loyd, which is Loyd TaylorA. Lloyd Taylor.
Q. You don't tell him about jumping down and hurting
yourself? Yon are a right. personal friend of his f
A. Yes, sir. I didn't see that it was necessary to write
him. He was a good friend of mine.
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Q. You wrote him three pages f
A. Yes, sir; he is my boss.

Q. I don't know him. Why did you say in there,
page 26 }- "Cause of trouble undetermined'U
A. That is why. They hadn't decided. They
kept me there four days, and that is when I wrote him.
Q. You heard wlmt Doctor Emmett said?
A. Yes, sir. He didn't come out and tell me after I left the
hospital He told Doctor Johnson. He said, ''I will report
to your local physician.''
Q. You heard him tell about you-r local backgroundT
A. I don't remember what Doctor Emmett said. You all
used big words ; law terms and medical terms.
Q. He said he wouldn't say it was due to a traumatic accident at the Shipyard,
A. I don't know. You are too deep for me.
Q. Did you all have employees in your real estate business?
A. I worked for Mr. Parker. He and I worked and he.
would tell me what to do.
Q. You were a partner in a successful real estate venture Y
A. Yes, sir. That is where I hurt that toe.
Q. You hired men T
A. Yes, sir.
Q. You had employees f
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did you have anybody to get hurt on the job T
A. I can't say. I didn't do the hiring. Mr. Greenway an<1
Mr. Parker did the hiring. I sold.
Q. You· discussed business dealings?·
page 27 }- A. Yes, sir.
Q. Wasn't part of the cost taking out workmen ·s
compensation insurance T
A. I don't think so.
Q. ,vhen was that?
A. 1928 and 1'929. I don't think we had it.
By Commissioner Robinson:
Q. Bow many people did you workt
A. Mr. Jack Caldwell had a steam shovel and we paid hiru
$5,000.00 to build roads and he hired bis men and we had two
or three men to put sewers in.
Q. Did you ever have ele'\Ten men T

A. No, si:r.
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By Mr. Ferguson:
Q. Did you do construction work? Did you build houses 7
A. Yes, sir.
Q. In your business experience, whether by sub-contractor
or whether you hired the men yourself, are you familiar with
the Comp~nsation LawT
A. No, sir.
Commissioner Robinson: What is the meaning of that?
Mr. Ferguson: In the background, he should have known
that be should have made a report.
The Witness: We neve1· had Social Security or "\Yorkmen 's
Compensation.
page 28

~

By Mr. Ferguson:
Q. You made a lot of money?
A. Yes, sir; and lost it in 1930.

Mr. Ferguson: I would like to offer this letter written by
the claimant in evidence.
(Letter written by the claimant and addressed ''Dear
Loyd,'' is received, filed and marked Exhibit D).
By Mr. Ferguson:
Q. Mr. Humphries., I will ask you if that is your signature!
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Where was that blank filled out?
A. I don't remember. I can't tell you. Let me see it.
Q. Did you type it or have somebody type it for you?
A. I had somebody type it for me.
Q. Is the information on there the information you gavef
A. Yes, sir; I guess that is information I gave.
Q. You know it is; you signed it?
A. Yes, sir ; the latter part of October.
Q. Was that made out in Mr. Collins' office or do you re·
member?
A. Yes, sir ; I think it was.
Q. At any rate, this is a preliminary notice of permanent
total disability claim you made to the Aetna Insurance Company; is that true?
A. Yes, sir; it is.
Q. That is the form they asked you to fill out., in
page 29 ~ view of your claim of being permanently and
totally disabled 7
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A. I :filled out one at Mr. Hubert Cox's office. He filled out
one. This is not his.
By Commissioner Robinson:
Q. That is your signature f
A. Yes, sir. This wasn't filled out at his office.
Q. Where did he get the information., whoever filled out the
answers to the questions?
.A.. I gave it.
Q. And you signed it¥
A. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Ferguson:
Q. That is dated October 20, 1943; is that about when you
did that,
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And attached to that; item 16 says '' See physicians re~
ports." ·wm you look at the physicians reports and see if
they are the ones that were attached to it; to refresh your
recollection?
A.. Yes, sir.
Q. Those are the reports dealing with your condition Y
A. Yes, sir; Doctor Emmett and Doctor Hawkins and Doc..
tor Johnson.
Q. They are the basis of your medical story for the claim Y
A. Yes, sir; they are three doctors that saw me.
Q. Question 7 is as follows: ''Cause of disability and details of illness or accident and symptoms present,'' and the
way you filled that out you state in there that you
page 30 ~ bad not had any accident or any details that would
suggest an accident arising out of and in the course
of your employment?
Mr. Collins: I object to that on the ground that that wae,
a claim to the insurance company, the sole basis being whether
or not he was permanently and totally disabled, regardless of
the cause.
Commissioner Robinson: I will have to overrule your objection. It says in this report, "Has insured suffered from
any infirmity, disease, or injury other than as above mentioned?'' and the answer is, ''Not known.,'' and up above it
says, '' Osteoarthritis of feet (Deformative type).'' ·
Mr. Collins: That is an accident.
Commissioner Robinson: This report also says, ''First
bothered by pain and swelling in both feet in February, 1943,
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laid off then for few weeks, returned to work and in June
condition became such that had to quit all work.''
Mr. Ferguson: I might state for Mr. Collins' benefit, if
he is taking the position that this insurance would have been
paid, had the cause been accidental in origin, that we better
get the insurance agent down here.
Mr. Collins: I take this position: I go by what the
pamphlet said and if he said he wouldn't pay, we would have
to sue.
Mr. Ferguson: It would be a question of havpage 31 ~ ing him explain the policy.
Mr. Collins : He is their agent and I am not
bound by anything he said.
Commissioner Robinson: Do you want to file the policy Y
Mr. Ferguson : Yes, sir.
By Mr. Ferguson:
.
Q. Your preliminary notice is silent as to the jumping down
from the bin; is that true 1
A. The thing was :filled out and the stenographer~ when she
asked the questions I answered them. She said she had filled
out lot of them.
Q. You went to Doctor J. M. Emmett and he filled out a
form. One of the questions in No. 3 is, "History of onset."
He does not say anything about this jumping down from a
bin two or three feet, does he T The same is true of Doctor
Hawkins and his report speaks for itself, and also Doctor
Walter W. Johnson, Jr. f
.A. No answer.
Q. When these doctors filled out the reports were you present! Did they ask you questions and get iniormation from
vou?
· A. Yes, sir; I was present when they were filled out.
Q. They didn't fill them out in your absence, did theyf

a

A. No, sir.
Q. Question 4 on each blank reads as follows: ''Has insured suffered from any infirmity, disease, or injury other
than as above mentioned 1 If so, describe each case., state
how long it existed and gives names of all physicians consnlted.'' The answers are, ''Not known, unknown and not
that I know of." ~pparently you didn•t tell those
p~ge 32 ~ doctors in October about jumping down from the
bin. When did you. first think this jumping down
from the bin had anything to do with your condition f
A. They hurt me when: I jumped and when they told me I
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had crushed bones, that is when I thought_ that caused it. You
asked me if I was present when .they filled it out. · ·.
.
· Q. And you said you thought you we.re~ A month after
they. examined you, November· 19th, when you filled out the
application for hearing, you lmew ·it had to be based on an
accident and it does not state anything about an accident.
When did you think of this jumping down business?
·. A. Mr. Ferg'lison, I thought· about it when I hit the floor
that day. My feet about killed me.
, Q. Why didn't you tell the doctors f ·. vVhen they were trying to treat you, do what they could for you, you did not tell
them?
..
A. I told Doctor Hawkins about climbing around the bins
and jumping down.
· : ··
· ·
· Q., They don't have it in- tlie hospital record and in the insurance~ record; which calls for just that information?
A. No answer.
Q. Tell me this: In answer to my letter stating that we
didn't know anyt~ing· about this accident., which was October
25th, why didn't you inform us as to what you were claiming?
, Mr. Collins: · r object to that He turned the letter over
:
to me. I didn't think it required an· answer.
Commissioner Robinson: · It requires notice about an in. ··
.. jury arising out of and in the course of the empage 33 r ployment. .
· · · · ..
•.· i ··;, " ·.
.
·
Mr. Collins: I understand that. From the type
of disease, they did not ask for any further information and
I didn't think it was necessary.'
·
, Commissioner Robinson: - If" a inan makes claim for disease, that does not come under the Workmen's Comperisatioi1
Act. 1Ve· ·have. bad numerous cases and have rendered decisions on that point, but if the ,person claims bis-- disability is
the result of an accident, the company bas got to have notice
· ·
··
· · ·· ·
within thirty days. · '
· Mr. Collins:· I know that, but, in this case, he couldn't give
notice until he knew it. ·
· ·
·
· Commissioner R-0 binson: When those reports were filled
out, the doctors had taken the X-rays Y
Mr. Collins: Yes, sir; and it talks about the origin of the
disease, which is osteoarthritis., and they all said ''Unknown.''
They said it started in February.
Mr.. Ferguson: Doctor Emmett said it might have been
r,
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years before Jt ~rs~ bot'4ered him; f0Ur Honor. He elees net
say when it first ~tf\r.tetl.
. .,
. ,
.
.. . .
C._om:µii.ssipner Re~inson: . I qon 't ~r.new w.bat the. ,c;loctors
~.aid. ,,I Ju~t glance¢!, over the depesiti~ns~ Ther will be i11
the office when 1 get bacJi:.
By Mr. Ferg~son;
. . ·..
,
,
Q~ In March, wfa~n you teolr time eff, was it en aceeunt of
your feetf
page 34 ~ ,A. Xes, si~..
.
..
Q. Same thing as new f
A. Yes, sir.
. .
Q! And yo1;1. did.that._on account ef the advice of your physician, Doctor Com;tney?
. . , . .
A. ?:e~, ~i~. I ~topp~,d by Doetar;DeJ~r13:ette's.to taka s~tne
electric treatments. He has an electric boot that you can
take.
Q. Was that a private c.on~e:p1 V . .
.
. . .
A,. Yes~ sir.. Doctor, ~rite.bet!_. couldn't g¢t anybody to QP:
erate the machine and I left •. I was t>ff. three weeks and I
came back and took my shoes off and iet them look at my feet
and Mr. Farinholt was there and Mr. Taylor was present.
Q. Y o_u did~ 't go .~o Doctor, J ahnson or Doctor Emmett or
Doctor :Hawkins at that time?
. A. N 0 1 ~ir. Doctor Gtmrtney said1 '' Giv~ my feet a eomplc;te rest:!! .
.·
..
'
.
.
Q. Did Doctor Emmett operate on you fer a :fistula of the
spine 7,
· ., '"'
_.· ..,,
-t,... Yes~ ~ir; in 1921. or 1~20. . ..
Q. And for adenoids and to11-sj~s 1
A. No, sir.; D~ctor ,Wys_or did that.
Q. How about sciatic rheumatism!
l,..: They claim .that was trom tonsils. and adeneids.
Q. And you had all your teeth pulled t
.A.
uppers.
Q. When you wrote Mr. Taylor, who was a friend of
yo~rs:--:- .
A. He is iri.y boss man.
,_
.. .
Q. :You told him. that the cause of your treuble
page 35 ~ was '' undetermined f' ~,.. , . .
. . _ .. .
. ,- . A .. I 'Vas ;writiµg .. The doetors hadn't d~eided.
Q. fh~bvas ,Septemb~r 2Qth?
. . ...
.· . . .. .
A. I still had hopes of getting w~ll; _ 'l;hef said if the bones
would knit ba~Jr, I would get well. I think staying .off my
feet would do that.
.

~n
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E,i,yar Wattav~ Humphtie~:

Q._Is the history Bobtor :ffinim~tt gav~ hf faui· t1a~t life
true!
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And :rou agreed to thaU
A. Yes, sir.
_
.
.
.
,
Q. What he testified to he knew of his own knowledgeY
A. Yes, sir.
.
Q. You :never gave notiee ta your ~mt1ltiyer t>r the tiompfirty,
as set forth in the Act? By that, you never gave 1Vritt~I1
notice, setting forth the time, place and nature of the aQcident and your resulting in3ury within thlrt# dfi#s frain the

a

date theteofY

A. No, sir; I did not. I don't think so.
Q. As a matter of fact, are you sure when you jumped
ddWn?.
_
.
__ _
A. I remember when I jumped. I ean't retrletnb~r the t:late;
Mr. Taylor can tell you about the date.
.Q~ .Mr: Taylbr is here and ± ani going fo pui hini oh 111 a
minute.
A; . Ghanging shifts i$ the onlf war I can tell ~otl; bt lddking that up:
·
By Mr. Collins:
Q: Mr: Humphriesj as I understand ytfo, this dttttijjing
curred tlie latter p.art of February antl.; shtirtly tlier~after;
you went tp see Dector Gourfney; aft~r seeittg tlie fHihlc
doctorY
page 36 ~ A·. Yes, sir.
Q. On each trip did you pay him?
;
A. Yes, sir. On one trip, I didn't have any eliatite aiid I
paid him the next visit:

oc-

Mr. doiiins: I wili file the receipts, showirlg ihe Mnohiits
and times he paid Doctor Oourtney:
(Receipts .o~ poctor C:. B. Court~ey:_ ai:e,, reeeived~
marked Exhibits E.:l: through E:.5, tnelus1ve);

By Mr. Collins:

filetl

anti

Q. I believe you stated that, from tht5 Iattet p~rt of Feb- .
rnary until.August; wherl Dbctcir Efnmett dr D~ctor.Hawliins
pronounced you permanently aisabl~d, you didn't kiiow but
that you had a strain anfl expeeted it fo pass aff with tr~ttt:.
ment and baking 7
A. That is right.
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. , Q...And up to that time, did you put any importance on the
jumping as a cause?
A. No,, sir; I didn't stress it.
.
Q. And you said you feel that you tQld Doctor Emmett and
before that, did you place any importance on it Y
Mr. Ferguson: Thit is.higbiy l~~di~g~
.
.Co_rrunissioner Robinson: Objection sustained.
plained that.

He ex-

~:-. Q. Now, Mr. Humphries, did you give t"o th~ ~pl9yer.and
insurance carrier the notice that you thought would satisfy
them at the time¥
.

..

.

.

.

.

~

: Mr. Ferguson: ] Q.bject. That calls for a conclusion. The
record shows what he did.
.
. ....
.·.
'·
pag·e 37 ~ A. Yes,. sir; I gave them what I thought was
necessary.
..
.
. Q. :Mr. Humphries, you have; at no time, refus.ed to answer
letters or to give information to the doctors or the Newport
News Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company?
,,

Mr. Frgeuson: .lie refused to answer one of.my letters.
He certainly refused to give information. .at thatj:ime.
,;
. · Commissioner R-0binson: Let it go in. I will pass on it
later.
The Witness: No, sir.
By Mr. Collins :
.
Q. Of course, Mr. Humphries, if yon had· known in Febru-.
a,ry or March, there wouldn't have been any necessity of going· to any doctor 61
·
i
.
A. No., sir; I would Iiave quit right off.
By Mr. Ferguson:
·· Q. Isn't it tru~; Mr. Hnmph:ties; ·that,you think, forgetting.
about the diagnosis, that the trouble could have been cured
by the wearing of steel arches T
A. That is my theory.
Q. Suppose the doctors had backed you up in thatf
A. All the doctors at the Clinic did was· put the heat on it
and say, '' See an outside physician.''
Q. Because you did not claim you were hurt at the Shipyardf
.
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A. Yes, sir.

Q. When we took the depositions in Clifton Forge, your
counsel asked a hypothetical question about the date you
jumped down, assuming it was February 7, 1943; where did
he get that dateY
page 38

~

Mr. Collins: Answer the question.

Q. Did you tell your counsel that that was the day you
jumped down from the bins?
A. I guess I did.
Q. .And, if so, why couldn't you tell us today,, when we
asked you time and again f
A. Give me a chance to go through the receipts.
Q. They are your papers and we have asked you when it
happened, and the Commissioner certainly would like to know.
A. The first receipt "is March 8th.
Commissioner Robinson : March 8th, 12th, 13th, 15th and
17th.
A. (continued) I know it was a good while before I went to
Doctor Courtney.
Q. How do you fix the date as February 7th, which you told
your counsel¥ You fixed the date on March 20th, and the
29th, which is nine days later, you can't remember February
7th; was that a guess?
A. If I told him February 7thQ. I am asking you if you told him that?
A. No answer.

By Commissioner Robinson:
Q. Do you recall what day of the week it was?
A. No., sir; I do not. I am trying to figure back. It was
just about a month before I went to see Doctor Courtney on
the 8th. I would not swear it was the 7th, 8th or 6th.
Q. You are thinking back. You couldn't answer
page 39 ~ that question when I first asked you?
A. No answer.
Q. How many days a week did you work f
A. Six, and sometimes seven.
By Mr. Ferguson:
Q. You weren't able to tell the doctors-all they have is
February, 1943-if you remembered the date you have told T
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A. It was about a month before I went to Doctor Courtney;
about a month before.
Q. You go back to your orig·inal testimony '' sometime in
February;'' you don't remember the exact date 1
A. I didn't have any reason to rcme'mbe:r the exact date.
Q. But your counsel has used a definite date. I want to
know if you told him and if you told him then, I want to know
if it is true¥
·
A. No answer.
Mr. Ferguson: I would like to file this preliminary notice
f~r~ together with the three doctors' reports attached thereto~
(These papers are received, filed and marked Exhibit F-1
through F-4, inclusive).
·witness stood aside.
Mr. Ferguson: Is that your case 1
Mr. Collins: How about Doctor Courtneyt
Commissioner Robinson: Let him file a report.
LLOYD GRAHAM TAYLOR.
By Mr. Ferguson :
Q. Wba t is your name f
A. Lloyd Graham Taylor.
Q. What is your address,
A. 110 Randolph Street, Ferguson Park.
Q. By whom are you employed t
A. Newport News Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company.
Q. In what capacity?
A. Supervisor Fitting Division, Purchasing Department.
Q. Do you know Mr. Edg·ar Wallace Ffumphries, this gentle-.
man here (indicating) ¥
A. Yes, sir ; he used to work for me.
Q. He worked f 01· you?
A. Yes., sir.
Q. In what capacity did he work for you f
A. Clerk in the main store room.
Q. In 1943-I believe Mr. Humphries came to work on November 7, 1942, and worked on until June of 1943?
A. Yes., sir.
Q. He has testified here today that sometime dui;=ing._Feb-:
page 40

~
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Lloyd Graham Taylor.
ruary, 1943, he had some trouble with his feet. Was he working for you at that time t
A. Yes., sir.
Q. Will you state whatever you know about his trouble with
his feet, that is, how it happened, what caused it or anything
that he told you and all that you know about it!
A. As I recall, he had right much trouble with his feet soon
after he got there. He was going to Doctor Courtpage 41 ~ ney and taking shots and snake oil and things like
that. He came to me about getting on the night
shift, so it would be easier on his feet. I spoke to Mr. Farinholt and there was an opening and we decided to put him
on it.
Q. Who is Mr. Farinholt?
A. He is foreman of the men in the store room and he
agreed to put him :0n.
Q. Do you remember when his feet first started hurting!
A. No, sir; I don't remember.
Q. Would it be in February! He said his feet began hurt~
ing in February; was be having troubleY
· A. I believe so.
Q. Or was it before or after that,·
A. It seems to me it was February and the wh~le time after
that. He went to Covington two or three times and he drew
his compensation for two or three periods.
Q. What do you mean ''compensation?''
. A. Insurance.
By Commissioner Ro bin son:
Q. Did he, at any time., tell you about an accident?
A. I will tell you, so many things were said. He did come
to me one time and said he jumped in the bin and hurt his
:Feet, I don't remember which one, but I remember well saying we supplied ladders for the upper bins. We have a dozen
or so ladders and if you use a ladder there is no chanc~ to
get hurt.
By Mr. Ferguson:
Q. What did he say about hurting his feet?
page 42 ~ A. He said he hurt his feet.
Q. Did he say when he hurt his feet Y
A. No, sir.
Q. Was anybody present?
A. No, sir.
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Q. Did you make a report of the accident Y
A. No, sir; but when anybody said he is hurt, I tell him
to go to the Clinic.
Q. Are they your instructions Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did you tell him to go to the Clinic f
A~ Yes, sir. Whether he went, I don't know. The rninic
report )'Till show.
Q. Did you think he had an accident, from what you know!

Mr. Collins: I object.
A. He told me he had an accident.

Q. What did you tell him?
A. I told him to go to the Clinic and file a report with him
and explain about the bin and I think what he wanted was to
ease up on his feet and., if I am not mistaken, he was having
trouble, because the whole time he was having trouble of some
sort.
Q. Was that before thisf
A. Yes, sir.
· Q. Had he been complaining about his feet before the time
he jumped down in this bin 'I
A. I don't recall.
·
Q. How do you know he was having trouble with
page 43 ~ his feeU What makes you say thatt
A. He was having so much trouble with them.
It seems the whole time he was there he was having trouble,
the extent of which, I don't know.
Q. Do you know whp.t excuse he gave when he left the Shipyard!
A. He said Doctor Courtney advised him to take a rest.
Q. What did he tell yon was the matter with him when he
quit work June 28th °I
A. I don't recall. Something wrong with his feet. He
didn't mention it.
Q. Did he say that was due to this accident he claims to
have had!
A. No, sir.
Q. Did he ever discuss with yon what caused the trouble in
his feet? Do you remember whether he told you what caused
his feet to be like thaU
A. He mentioned something al,out a spinal operation and
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Lloyd Grahani Taylor.
having an accident to his feet. That is the only thing I recall.
Q. Did you receive this letter from him?
.A. Y es 7 sir.
Q. .And in that letter does he say what the cause of his ·
trouble isf
A. Cause of trouble undetermined.
Q. What does he mean by that, in your opinion 7 ·
A. He does not know what it was.
Q. Your instructions, in the event a man has an accident
inlo'Qr department, are to do what?
page 44 ~
. Instructions are to go to the Clinic, so the
Yard will assume reaponsibility. That is one of
the things they stress on us.
Q. You do that all the timeT
A. Yes, sir.
.
Q. If he had told you about an accident, you would have
told him to go to the Clinic 7
A. Yes1 sfr.

By Mr. Oollins:
Q. Mr.Taylor, as I understand vou., you told him to go to
the Clinic when he told you abo1tt this accident, but you don't
know whether he went or not; is that :right T
A. Yes, sir.
Q. You said tlmt was around February and he complained
the whole time after that?
A, Yes, sir.
Mr. Ferguson: He said he complained the whole time he
was there.

By Mr. Colline:

Q. Prior to that time he complained of hie feet and you
advised him to get easy sole shoes for walking on concrete f.
A. Yes, sir; I did.
Q. That was shortly after he went to work there f
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And was that a concrete floor?.
A. Concrete and wood.
·

page 45}

Br, Mr. Ferguson:
Q. You advised him to get shoes when?
. A. Soon after he got there.
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Q. In November or December¥
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Was that advice g·iven to him because he discussed with
you his feet?
A. Yes, sir. From experience I have had, men with foot
trouble, I always tell to get shoes that are easy to walk on
concrete; rubber or cord. You can't use leather soles. They
will wear out too fast.

·witness stood aside.
Mr. Ferguson: I would like to offer the insurance policy,
since Mr. Collins is making a point of that.
Mr. Collins: I would like to file this pamphlet in evidence
and ask that it be made a part of the record and call the
Commissioner's attention particularly to the paragraph at
the bottom of page three and the paragraph at the top of
page four. That is given the employees when they take out
the insurance. It says, "In the event of permanent total
disability occurring before the ag·e of sixty years and resulting from either sickness or accident., the full amount of Life
Insurance will be paid to the employee himself.''
Mr. Ferguson: I submit that that is for an accident outside of employment and he is paid under the group
page 46 ~ disability policy.
.
Commissioner Robinson: I haven't seen the
policy a.pd don't know whether it pays weekly benefits, but
they do pay for death.
Mr. Ferguson: I will send you a copy of the policy which
you can see, which makes it perfectly clear.
(Insurance policy with the Aetna Life Insurance Company,
053-255 is received, filed and marked Exhibit G and pamphlet
entitled ''Employees' Insurance Plan'' is received, filed and
marked Exhibit H).
Closed.
page 47 } Commonwealth of Virginia.,
Industrial Commission of Virginia :
Edgar ·wallace Humphries, Claimant,

v.

Newport News Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company, Employer.
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Claim Nos. 706-926.
The depositions of Dr. J. M. Emmett and Dr. R. P. Hawkins, taken. on the 20th day of March, 1944, before the undersigned Notary Public, at the Chesapeake & Ohio Hospital,
Clifton Forge Virginia., pursuant to annexed notice, to be
read as evidence in behalf of the. claim:ant in the above styled
cause.
By agreement of ·counsel of both parties, the time of the
taking of said depositions was accelerated to the 20th day of
March, 1944, at the same place and between the same hours.
Present: Hale Collins, Attorney for Claimant;
"\V. McL. _Ferguson, Attorney for Employer.
page 48
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Commonwealth of Virginia
Industrial Commission of Virginia

Edgar Wallace Humphries, Claimant,

v.
Newport News Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company, Employer.
·
Claim Nos. 706-926.
NOTICE TO TAKE DEPOSITIONS.
To : Newport News Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company.
You are hereby notified that the undersigned, Edgar Wallace Humphries, will, on the 24th day of March, 1944, between
the hours of 9 o'clock A. M. of that day and 5 P. M. of that
day at C. & 0. Hospital, Clifton Forge, Virginia, take the
depositions of Doctors J.M. Emmett, R. P. Hawkins and W.
W. Johnson, Jr. to be read as evidence on behalf of the claimant in the above styled proceedings; and if from any cause
the taking of the said depositions be not commenced or, if
commenced, be not concluded on that day, the taking thereof
will be adjourned from day to day at the same time and between the same hours until the same shall be completed.
Given under my hand this the 16th day of March, 1944.
EDGAR WALLACE HUMPHRIES
HALE COLLINS
Counsel.
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Dr. R. P. Hawkins.
(on Back)
Exe·cuted Mar. 16th, 1944, in the city of Newport News,
Virginia, by delivering· a true copy of the within
page 49 ~ NOTICE to John B. Woodward, Jr., Vice President.General Manager of the Newport News Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company, in person.

P. W. HALL
Oity Sergeant,
By (s) F. B. KYLE
page 50 ~

DR. R. P, HAWKINS,
a witness of lawful age, being first duly sworn,
deposes and says as follows :

By Mr. Collins :
Q. Dr. Hawkins, you know Edgar Humphries?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And are you familiar with his present arthritis of the
feet!
A. Yes, sir.
Q. I believe you gave him· a thorough examination or
treated him sometime last summer, probably July or August,
or somewhere along in there!
A. Yes.
Q. And since then, recently,, you have checked your records
of the case, have you not f
A. Yes.
Q. What is his present ailment with reference to his feetf
A. He has what we call osteo-arthritis of the bones of his

feet.
Q. Is that condition now· such that he is per:rnanently dis. .
abled, or is it a permanent Gondition Y
A. Well, it is a permanent disease in his feet, ye$.
Q. And that makes him-does it, or does it not make him
permanently disabled from the st&ndpoint of using his· feet
the same way a normal person uses them f
page 51 t A. I think so, yes.
·
Q. And I believe sometime last July, July or
August, you so informed him f
.A.. Yes.

Humphries v. N. N. Shipbuilding ·and Dry Dock Co.

49

Dr. R. P. Hawkins.
Q. Now, Doctor, in that type of disease is there any way
that you can teJl when it origfoated, when it started Y
A. No, not to my knowledge.
Q. Then, at the time you examined him you could not state,
as a medical fact, when the disease first started with him?
A. I couldn't tell, no. .
Q. Now, Doctor, I will ask you, assuming that he had this
osteo-arthritis in February of last year., would it be possible
for him to have this disease and not have any pain, swelling
or suffering from it? In other words, persona.lly not have the
symptoms of the disease; would it be possible?

By Mr. Ferguson: Before you answer that, Doctor. I object to the question because there is no testimony that he
had this disease in February. You have asked a hypothetical
question without any evidence that he had anything of the
kind.
Q. Let me ask you this question first, Doctor : from this
type of disease as you saw it in June, July or August, 1943,
from the history of Mr. Humphries, can you state whether
or not he bad the disease of osteo-arthritis as far back as
February of that year?
· A. I don't know. I didn't see him during that
page 52 ~ time.
Q. From his history of it!
A. From his history of it, I think he might.have had osteoarthritis at that time.
Q. And in February, 1943?
A. Well, there would be no way of telling. It would be a
supposition on my part__;....if you want my expression, what I
think about it.
Q. Well, based on your medical experience, what is your
opinion?
·
·
A. It is my opinion he might have had it, probably, in February. He might not have had symptoms of it.
Q. .As I understand, he may have had osteo-arthri tis but
had no symptoms Y
A. That is possible. He might not have had a pain.
Q. By ''symptoms'' you mean the pain or any swelling
that n,ecessarily follows the disease, as symptoms?
A. I mean that is any discomfort or pain that he mig·ht
have had at that time.
.
Q. From his history and from your examination of Mr.
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Humphries, I believe you stated you are of the opinion that
he had osteo-arthritis prior to February, 19431
A. I don't know. I don't say he had it. I say it is possible he did have it.
Q. It is possible that he did have iU
A. Yes.
page 53 ~ Q. Now is there any medical fact that you can
trace the origin of osteo-artbritis to f
A. I don't know that I understand your question.
Q. ·wen, in Mr. Humplnies' history, is there anything in
the history that would lead you to believe that this disease
started from that, or followed that condition f
A. I still don't understand exactly; what condition are you
talking about?
Q. Osteo-arthritis?
A. What conditions are you talking about1
Q. Osteo-arthritis f
By Mr. Ferguson: The question is ambiguous to me. I
think the question is ambiguous. If you want to ask the
Doctor what caused osteo-arthritis, you ask it in a correct
way.
A. I just don't know how to answer ij; in the right way.
Q. ·what causes osteo-arthritis?
A. 1Yell, osteo-arthritis is a deforming type of joint disease which occurs in some individuals as a process of, you
might say process of erosion of the years. Older people develop it. Then some diseases cause osteo-arthritis and one
of the common ones is syphilis. Any disease that might occur in a joint in the body may develop osteo-arthritis in that
joint. You might have a broken ankle and develop it from
that and have osteo-arthritis.
Q. You say it might be caused by the erosion
page 54 ~ of years, I think that is the way you put iU
A. Older people. It is more or less a common
disease that develops in people past middle life.
Q. In that type of case, when it is from erosion, what period
of tin;ie would it take., normally, for osteo-arthritis to reach
the point that it was in the Humphries case when you first examined him?
By Mr. Ferguson:· I object to that, unless the Doctor says
he thinks his type of case comes under that classification. He
hasn't said what he thinks caused this particular disease.
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Q. All right, I will ask it this way: You have stated, Doctor, it might also come from syphilis. ·what, in your opinion,
was the cause of this osteo-arthritis in Mr. Humphries Y
A. ·wen, it is our opinion that Mr. Humphries has a disease
of his feet as a result of a syphilitic infection. It is a disease of the tarsal joint.
Q. And that syphilitic infection was· a number· of years
prior to the time that you examined him?
A. Yes.
Q. Then, if it is caused from the syphilitic infection, that
was in his system for sometime¥
A. It was bound to have been, yes.
,J
Q. Now:, Dr. Hawkins, assuming that Mr. Humphries had
the osteo-arthritis in February, which was February 7, of
1943, and prior to that time, he had no symptoms of it, that
is, he suffered no pain or swelling, and that he had
page 55 ~ jumped on to the concrete floor a distance of approximately three feet, and that immediately following tl1e landing on the floor, on the roug·h concrete, with
bolts and other debris., would this force be sufficient to bring
on the symptoms of osteo-arthritis 1
By Mr. Ferguson: I object to the question because it
presupposes a state of facts that the defendant is learning for
the first time. Apparently, the claimant intends to prove, at
a later date, through other witnesses, these facts, unless the
record later ties up these facts as being· the facts in this particular case.
I also note an objection on the record for the purpose of
stating· that we have received no notice of any such occurrence,
as is required under the Act. The application for a hearing
is silent on this matter.
A. That would not necessarily bring on symptoms of osteoarthritis, no. I can qualify that answer a little bit by saying
that it is possible that a jump or fall at any time might be a
predominant factor in the cause of osteo-arthritis. That
might produce the first symptoms.
By l\fr. Ferguson: I object to the answer as being a speculation and having no testamentary value. It is an opinion
that this did cause this particular result.

. Q. The question I am asking Dr! Hawkins is1 that assum-
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ing that Mr. Humphries had had osteo-artbritis on
this particular day, say February 7, 1943., assuming tha.t he had osteo-arthritis and at that time he
had not suffered any from it, or had any symptoms of it, then 7
if he jumped, as I have stated, and for the first time suffered
severe pain, which ~as later followed by swelling,. could a
jump of that nature., in itself, bring on the symptoms of the
disease, that is, the pain and swelling, etc. Y
A. I think it is very possible that a jump or fall could have
produced the initial pain. I think that is possible. It is
very possible be might not have had pains before that time,
if that is what you are g·etting· at.
Q. That is right. Then, any force of that nature would
aggravate, certainly the condition t
A. I would say so.
Q. I think that is all I want to ask him.··
page 56

~

CROSS EXAMINATION.
By Mr. Ferguson:
·Q. Doctor, do I understand you correctly in saying that
you are unable to fix the time when he had the beginning of
this disease Y
A. No, there is no way of definitely stating when this disease might have had its beginning.
Q. But he had, as I understand it, a perfect background forsuch disease in a previous early syphilitic condition Y
A. Yes.
Q. Would it be normal to expect this disease to
page 57 ~ break out sooner or late~, with that background?
A. You mean in the particular way it .affected
himt
Q. Yes, sir.
A. Not necessarily. It has so many different ways of manifesting itself and that just happens to be one of them. It
doesn't do that in every case.
Q. I don't mean in every case, but would it be expected
.
to finally show itself? .
A. Not in every case, no.
Q. Well, in his case, would you have been surprised to find
he had osteo-arthritis f
A. No, I wouldn't have been surprised.
Q. Regardless of whether he jumped from a distance of
three feet, as Mr. Collins' question indicated!
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A. No, that is not surprisinO' at all.
Q. Well, in event you have been asked to assume that he
hacl this disease, could he have had it previous., say three
months previous to that?
A. You mean the osteo-arthritis f
Q. Yes, sir.
A. Well, that is merely a supposition. There is no way of
telling definitely whether he did, but it is likely he had some
chance. It is a chronic disease. It isn't an acute disease.
Q. It is a progressive occurring thing 7
A. Yes, sir.
page 58 ~ Q. In other words, it would be slow in manifesting itself?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And you are not able, medically speaking, to put your
finger on any particular time or the date at which it started T
A. That would be impossible.
Q. Would it be possible that he had it previous to N ovember f
A. I couldn't say. There would be no way of telling.
Q. When did you diagnose it as osteo-arthritis t
A. When I saw him in the hospital. I think it was in July
of last year.
Q. Around the 28th of July, 1943 t
A. Yes.
Q. Well, would you be willing to express an opinion as to
whether or not it could have been-whether the disease could
have been present in November of the preceding year f
A. I wouldn't know how I would do that. I wouldn't like
to say. I wouldn't like to express myself on that because
there is no way of arriving at any conclusion of that nature.
Q. You expressed yourself. as to his present condition 7
A. I said it was very likely it was.
Q. How long does it take the disease to develop f
A. Sometimes it takes years.
Q. Has he had it for years f
page 59 ~ A. It is just possible. There is no way of telling.
Q. In the history that you got from Humphries, did he ever
mention to you this incident that was supposed to have
occurred on February 7, 1943, by jumping onto a concrete
floor?
A. Mr. Humphries' records are not real accurate along that
line. They are not in great detail, but I remember, I have in
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my own memory, by my association with him at that time,
about hearing him talking about injuring his feet on the rough
floors, but I don't recall any details as to the nature of his
injury.
Q. You don't recall him having jumped!
A. There is nothing in our reports.
Q. And I believe you filled out some papers of the Aetna
Insurance Company under his group policyf
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And I believe your report shows that, in answer to a
question that reads as follows:
'' Has insured suffered !lny permanent disease or injury
other than as above mentioned f''
you have "Unlmown"f
A. Yes.
Q. In other words, he did not make it known to you any
history that would connect it with tlie disease?
A. Well, that is a stock way I have of answering these
questions. I answer so many of them, and I figure
page 60 ~ tliat is a phase of his history that would come out
in a different way at a later date.
Q. Did you realize that the insurance policy he was making
claim under was a non-occupational disability!
A. I don't remember anything about that, about the nature
of his insurance policy at all. I didn't see the policy at· all.·
All I did was to fill out the blank.
Q. If he was giving you the history of the accident, he
wouldn't have been paid under this policy?
A. Occupational claim as distinguished from non-occupational. Is that a blank?
Q. I show you what purports to be a photostat of the
Aetna Life Insurance Company's disability claim and I ask
you if you recognize that as being in your handwritingt
A. Yes, that is my handwriting.
Q. Is that your handwriting, sid
A. Yes, sir. There is nothing in here that states anything·
about an injury.
Q. Well, the question above is directed at the cause of
his condition, as you gathered· froin the history that the patient
has given you?

By Mr. C'ollins: I object. to that for the reason that Dr..
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.riawkins does not give any reason for the cause of osteoarthritis.
A. I can answer the question. Maybe I am not answering it
right. I make out a great many of them.
page 61 r I answer them all that way. I feel it is a blank
for a specific disease and it is not ·an application
for insurance, and if there is something there that the company isn't satisfied with, they can have permission to investigate our records further, you see. That is the way I :fix these
and I invariably do that.
Q. Don't you go into the history that the patient gives you
before you attempt a diagnosis?
A. Yes, but I don't put all that in the blank, it is in the
hospital records.
Q. Are the hospital records available?
.A. Yes, we have them.
Q. Could you get them without too much trouble?
By Dr. Emmett: I thi~k you can get them.

Q. I say, Doctor, it is important to know whether the disability is accidental in origin and not occupational in origin.
In one event he is entitled to collect under the group policy
of the life insurance company and in the other instance, to
know whether he is entitled to benefits under the Workmen's
Compensation Act.
A. Well, if you picking that one question out, I think, if
the blank were studied; in other words, they ask up here at
the top of the history, on the onset. All that I put down
was "Pain and swelling of the feet". And then "Osteoarthritis of both feet, deformans in type". The answers to
these questions, to a medical man who is studying this blank,
would be self-e;planatory.
Q. But for an· insurance company who is trying to decide
whether to honor a claim or not, they particularly
page 62 r interested in whether the claim comes under their
policy.
.A.. I still say it would take a medical man to answer it, if
I answer that question.
Q. They have medical men to interpret the report on the
basis of the report.
A. In other words, you want to know why I didn't answer
Number 4 as to a man having syphilis?
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Q. That is the case.
A. I just don't put it on any of the blanks.
Q. Why didn't you answer it, then, ''Because he jumped on
the bolts" Y
A. I didn't have any record of jumping on the bolts. I
didn't have a record of the injury and there is nothing in the
blank that comes under that. You can't interpret anything
l put in there as being in the nature of an injury.
Q. Don't you think Question 4 is fairly clead I will read
~t again. (Question read to witness.)
.
A. I say that is the way I usually answer that and specific
instances are brought out by further correspondence.
Q. I will ask you if Mr. Fry, the Adjuster for the Aetna
Insurance Company, talked to you personally about this case f
A. No. If he did, I have no recollection of it. I don't think
anybody has been here to see about this case. I don't recall any.
Q. Would the use of whiskey or dope have anypage 63 ~ thing to do with his case or not, Doctor!
A. I would not think so.
Q. You wouldn't Y
A. No.
Q. That is the excessive use of liquor¥
A. Well, I just don't know. My information wonld be that
it would not.
Q. You don't recall Mr. R. S. Fry, Jr., of Roanoke, Adjuster
for the Aetna Insurance Company, coming here and talking
with Dr. Emmett and you at this hospital?
A. I don't recall it. If you have got a record of what I told
him, I might recognize my own peculiar way of saying things,
but I don't recall discussing the Humphries case with anyone
except Hale Collins here. It is very possible that he was
here. I just don't recall it.
Q. Maybe, if I read a sentence ltere it might sound like,
you might recognize your language, referring to yon and
Dr. Emmett: "Both men have examined and treated this insured and it is still the opinion of both of these doctors that
this man's condition is growing progressively worse and will
continue to do so, and that it is their opinion that he is unquestionably totally disabled and this total disability will be
permanent. They can see no chance whatsoever for this man
to make any recovery. His ankles, feet and toes are alreadv
deformed and they state that they have never seen a man
with the disease he has, in which it has reaclted the stage it
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has reached in his case, that ever recovered.'' Do you recall
now, about November, 1943, having talked with Mr.
page 64 ~ Fry, of Roanoke T
A. Do you know. Mr. Fry? Is he a big fellow,
tall fell ow'
Q. I never saw him.
A. Since reading that, I think I haiye a recollection of
somebody being here to inquire about it. I think you are right.
· Q. He was very interested in :finding out 1
A. The reason it impressed me, since reading that, is due
to the fact that practically all he was interested in, in hift
interview with me, was whether or not Humphries was per..
manently disabled. That is all he was interested in.
Q. You do recall now?
A. I remember now that that was the principal motive in
l1is talk with me. I didn't hear his conversation with Dr.
Emmett.
.
Q. And, as far as you can recall, Mr. Humphries did not
go into' the fall or jump at that time?
A. If he did, I have no recollection of it. I don't think
our records stated that, do they?
By Dr. Emmett: No, they do not state that.

Q. And the records do not state it 7
A. Our records do not state it.
Q. Will you explain to me, please, sir, exactly what osteo
arthritis is 1 I take it, it has something to do with the bones
and something to do with the heart; is that rig·ht?
A. No.
page 65 ~ Q. Will you explain it to me, please, sir?
A. Osteo-arthritis is a deforming disease that
occurs in the joints of the body, in which the bones of tba1
·joint become deformed, irregular. Well, I think that is the
way to express it, and these deformities, irregularities are of
a permanent nature and usually progressive.
Q. And so that it continues, and the patient in this casl!
can expect a continual increase of this disease in his joints f
A. I think that is usual, yes.
Q. And ,vhen the case has a syphilitic background?
A. Yes.
Q. I gather from what you have said that, owing to the
syphilitic background and the symptoms that he presented
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to you, you did not think it necessary to look for any other
cause; that was sufficient?
A. Well, I went over him generally, routinely, and nothing
·
else was found.
Q. And you didn't look for ·an accidental origin for this
disease, it is not accidental in origin¥
A. There is no physical evidence of any accident.
Q. Well, it is not accidental in origin?
A. The disease, primarily, is not accidental in origin, no ..
·well, may be I am incorrect in stating that. I think there
would be an osteo-arthritis of a joint that could
page 66 ~ be due to an injury. You could set that up by a
broken ankle.
Q. And you gave that as a possible cause. In this case
you stated the cause as lying in his syphilitic condition¥
A. That is my opinion. Both feet are equally involved..
Q. Is it apt to make itself manifest in any other joints 01·
bones of this particular patient?
A. ·well, I just don't know. It is possible, I reckon.
Q. It depends on time?
A. Yes.
Q. You wouldn't be surprised if it shows up somewher*-!'
else?
A. It could do it.
Q. Is it possible, in the early stages of osteo-arthritis, fo•
the patient not to feel any pain or discomfort¥
A. I think so.
Q. As a matter of fact, he could have had it for years, you
S'ayf
A. I think it is very possible.
RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION.
By Mr. Collins :
Q. And Doctor, that being a possibility, or could have been
a possibility, then the pain and discomfort could have been
brought on by any traumatic· condition?
A. I think that is possible.
page 67 ~ Q. Now, Doctor, with reference to the insurance:
blank you filled out for 1\fr. Fry, that he has just
questioned you about, as I understand, you stated then and
state now, as ~ medical fact, you cannot say what was the
cause of Mr. Humphries' disease, as a fact, and you so stated
on the blank by tlie word "'Unknown"?
·
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By Mr. Ferguson: I object to the question. The blank
speaks for itself. He used the word '' unlmown'' and he said
he never uses any other word than ''unknown".
Q. I am asking you, can you say, as a·definite medical fact,
the origin of the osteo-arthritis of Mr. Humphries Y
·
A. The only thing I can say to that question is that the
osteo-arthritis that he has in his feet is characteristic of the
osteo-arthritis that is found in the disease I have mentioned.
Q. That is right. I will ask you to look at this:

·

By Mr. Ferguson: May I ask if that question is an opinion f
By Mr. Collins: It is an opinion.
By Mr. Ferguson: You asked him as a fact.
By Mr. Collins:
Q. The only thing I am trying to get at, Doctor Hawkins,
Mr. Ferguson has shown you the insurance record, and your
o
answer in reply was you should have stated a defipage 68 ~ nite, positive reason or cause for this disease instead of stating "Unknown", if you were asked to
put your finger on a definite, certain thing that caused osteoarthritis in Mr. Humphries T
A. I could only give my opinion.
Q. And you could not, as a positive, medical fact, say what
caused itf
A. No, sir, I couldn't say what caused it.
Q. Now this is your medical record, and I will ask you if this
medical record doesn't show that Mr. Humphries told you
the first pain and swelling of the feet started in February,
1943?
By Mr. Ferguson: I object.
A. I have given you that before. That is a note I made on
his chart when he was here.
Q. That is your handwriting!
A. That is my handwriting, there.
Q. And in writing out the history of Mr. Humphries' case
as he gave it to you, you have stated on your chart: '' The
pain and swelling of the feet· started in February, 1943"?
A. Yes, that is my handwriting, my handwriting on hh1
chart.
Q. Now, I understood you to say, Dr. Hawkins, that in
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this case, and in other cases of osteo-arthritis, that the symptoms may be brought about by trauma Y
A. I think that is possible, sure.
page 69

~

RE-CROSS EXAMINATION.

By Mr. Ferguson:
Q. In this particular case, however, you think the osteoarthritis is broqght about by a syPhilitic background Y
By Mr. Collins: I object to that for the reason Dr. Hawkins has testified that the symptoms of pain and swelling can
be brought about by trauma. In other WQrds, that the original
disease may be brought on that way.
A. That is my information that it is.
Q. As a ·matter of fact, you so stated in yonr answer to
a question on the dtsability claim blank, that the ·symptom~
appeared in February, 1943, and that the history of the onset.
was pain and swelling of the feet?
·
A. Yes.
Q. So that agrees with the syphilitic record Y
A. Yes.
Q. That counsel has just shown you Y
A. Yes.
Q. How long does it take you to diagnose this osteo-arthritis, how long a period did you observe him before you
reached this conclusion Y
A. He was just here a day or so, but immediate diagnosi 1$
procedure in his case was an X-ray of his feet.
Q. The X-ray was the answer Y
A. That is a confirmative evidence.
Q. After studying the X-rays, you are f airh
page 70 ~ certain Y
.,
A. Yes, he was here a couple of days, I think. 1
don't remember the days.
Q. I notice a copy of the letter to Dr. Walter Johnso11,
dated July 30, 1943, in which you said: '.'We have not concluded our study iu this case so have to observe him for sev-·
eral days."
A. Yes.
Q. And I notice also a letter dated August 2, 19431 to Dr
Walter Johnson, in which you said:
a

'' Mr. Humphries left the hospital Sunday.

We investi-
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gated him rather extensively. X-rays of his feet revealed
rather marked irregularities and destructive areas in the tarsal bones. As you know, he has a definite luetic history and
he has had very extensive treatment His blood Kahn and
his spinal fluid were both negative. He has fixed pupils and
absence of deep reflexes in his legs, lightning-like pains in
his lower extremities.
We feel that he is undoubtedly a tabetic and that he has
charot joints which involve both feet. So far as we can learn,
there is no treatment for this condition other than rest. The
most favorable development, of course, would be ankylosis of
the joints of his feet. I told him that he might get some relief by putting casts on his feet for a month or six
page 71 ~ weeks, hoping that these joints would ankylose. I
don't know that they will.
It seems that these cha rot joints are due to faulty enervation as a result of a destruction in the spinal cord. This boy
is undoubtedly a hopeless cripple.''
As a matter of fact, Doctor, throug·hout your hospital job,
you emphasized the chronic feature of this case?
A. Yes.
Q. And nowhere in your evidence does there appear to have
been any mention of a traumatic history?
A. No, I have no record of that.
Q. Do you give the stenographer permission to sign your
name to this deposition when it is typed up Y
A. Yes.
And further this deponent saith not.
DR. R. P. HAWKINS,.
By the stenographer.
~

DR. J. M. EMMETT,
another witness of lawful age, being first duly
sworn, deposes and says as follows:

page 72

By Mr. Collins:
Q. Doctor, you are Chief Surgeon of the C. & 0. Railroad,
are you not?
A. Yes.
Q. And you have been in charge of this hospital here for
a number of years, have you not 7
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A. Yes.
By Mr. Ferguson··: '\Ve will- concede that·,
Q. Dr. Emmett, did you liave: any corinectioii ,vith Edgi1r~
Humphries in the diagnosis of· his present condition i
A. He was handled largely by Dr. Hawkins, who ·handle~r
this type of case in the- hospital. I saw him at intervals with
Dr. Hawkins, largely because of my personal interest in Edgar ..
I have known him for years but I didn't follow his detail stuff,
either from a diagnostic standpoint or from a standpoint of
treatment. He was largely under Dr. Hawkins. He was
completely under Hawkins' care.
Q. In other words, your connection with the case came more
in a consulting manner or a personal interest in the case bcca use of Edgar Humphries 7
A. Yes, and I think Dr. Hawkins came in and discussed it
with me. He knew that I had known Edgar for years and
that I was interested in him.
page 73 ~ Q. So, from your knowledge of the case and the
records, etc., what is his present condition 1
A. I recall having looked at his picture and having looked
over the records, and he has a deforming case of osteoarthritis, involving his feet.
Q. That is permanent, is it not t
A. Oh, yes. The changes that occur in the bones of hi g
feet aiid the joints of his feet are definitely permanent
changes. As Dr. Hawkins called attention to an anticipated
development in his case, in which there occurs a fusion in·
_ these joints, he indicated that, or mentioned that he might
put him in a cast, but when that fusion does take place, the·
pain and discomfort becomes less severe. Some cases never ·
f.use, as I understand, and others fuse very rapidly. That is·
alrthat a man who has this disease has to look forward to.
Q. This disease, in the stage in which Humphries now has·
it,. is extremely painful in any use of his feeU
. A.. I don't know what his present condition is because I
haven't seen any pictures since these pictures were made and ·
I don't know what fusion he has, but I don't know anything·
~ore painful t~an t~is- in '.any, w_eight-bearing area, when yon
carry your weight on your feet.
Q. Dr. Emmett, can you say, as a medical fact, any definite·
cause for the diseasel
.A. No, I db1i''t thirik so~ I agree in toto with everything~
1
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H.c1wkins has said, except one thing I mig.l1t
I think, in sulJstance: the' an'.sw~r to this man's problem is, logically, the question that he· has had a syphilitic infection. On
the other hand, there is some element of chance that his nutrition has gone very far, because of his habits. It might be due
to nutrition, in his syphilitic infection.
. Q. As I understand it, like a great many other cases,
~here is :iio defuiite cause, as a medical fact, but the history of
the case ieads ya,u to think that this contributed to the disease,
his l1abits, etc. f
.
. A. It is logical to conclude that hi~ nutrition and habits
that he acquired in' earlier life might have proven a feature,
causing largely, or contributing largely in the creation of the
condition we saw last year.
Q. As I understand, it is not in a sense a decaying of the
bone, but it is ~ chf:)-ngied condition of the ]?one, is it not 7
A. I don't _know 1vhat changes occur in· the bone, but I do
know that they are marked by_ a distortion or c~ange in structure, and the likelihood of changed structures,·where the maintenance of the continuity of the bone is interfered with, but
that is a pretty· deep problem and one I don't know anything
.about.
.
, Q. The symptoms, as far as the pain ·is concerned, what.
it is, in the pain and swelling and suffering that e~ist in the·
' bone?
page 75 } A. Yes.
..
. ;
Q. You say you agree with Dr. Hawkins. Did J
understand from that that this disease may, or may not, be of
long standing, without the patient knowing that he has it,
that is, that he may not suffer the pain or the swelling that
is generally incident to the disease up to a certain point, or
may never do it; is that right?
A. No, I didn't say that.
Q. You say that he has got osteo-arthritis in his feet and
his feet are weight-bearing structures of the body, and that
he ought to begin having symptoms pretty soon after the
disease, certainly as soon. as the disease gets under way and
results in distortion?
.A.. I can't tel1 you how rapidly it is going to progress. It is
impossible.
Q. It may be a very slow progress and may not Y
A. I say some types are and some relatively slow1'. Som..~
of them are astoundingly rapi~.
·
. . D1\

page 74

r have a little different opinion on.
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Q. From the X-ray of Mr. Humpries' feet, which I pret!IUine were taken some time in July, 1943, from that X-ray,
would it be your opinion that he had some form of the disease
as far back as February of that year!
A. Why, I would think so, but that is purely an opinion.
Q. In other words, in your opinion, it is probable that he
didt
page 76 ~ A. It is my opinion that he probably has had it
a long time.
Q. Now, Doctor, may I ask you this: if we presume that
Mr. Humphries had used his feet more, that is, walked and
used them as any. other person used them, and that he had
not had any extreme suffering from them, would a trauma~
that is, a jump and sudden landing on his feet with his weight,.
aggravate the symptoms and bring on the pain at that time Y
By Mr. Ferguson: I object to the question on the same
ground that I objected to a similar question in Dr. Hawkins'
testimony; and on the further ground that it is leading, definitely leading.
Reply by Mr. Collins: I don't Imow but what it would· he
leading.
Reply by Mr. Ferguson: We further object to the questiou
in that it calls for a speculation and no facts on which the
witness can base an answer with reasonable certainty.
Reply by Mr. Collins: Well, all questions of that type are
speculative in a sense. I am asking a medical fact.
ll,eply by Mr. Ferguson: He has to have facts on which
to base his opinion.
By Mr. Collins:
Q. I have stated these facts and I said, assuming he did
not have the symptoms and had the disease, would
page 77 } this bring it on 1
.
A. Some time during the disease he would have
to be conscious of it because he was walking on the deformed
members. Well, I think that, assuming a man had an osteoarthritis and he hadn't any symptoms, which is not likely,
.....i.f he jumped on his feet with all his weight, it would be
painful, and it might result in an immediate discomfort.
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CROSS EXAMINATION.
By Mr. Ferguson :
Q. He might also get over it and go back to work, mightn't
he, DoctorV
A. Yes.
Q. Would you think it unreasonable for l\fr. Humphries to
have gone on to work fo1· three or four months, doing the same
type of work he had been doing previous to the accident?
Would you think it unusual in his case?
·
.A. No. Dr. Hawkins has told you that certain of these
cases are purely traumatic in origin. That is particularly
true, due to injuries. Now it is assumed that a ma:Q.. who has
it as a result of a syphilitic infection, a tram:tla might play
some part in a sudden aggression of it.
.Q. And the disease is present all the time an.d grows progressively worse., so that, without any trauma at all, assuming a man stayed in bed, he would still look forward to having
pain and suffering in the diseased joints.
page 78 ~ A. And the pain being commensurate with the
use he put his feet to.
Q. It alleviates the pain but the disease is. growing somewhat like a mushroom 1
A. I think so.
Q. Doctor, do you recall Mr. Fry's visit to the hospital?
A. Yes, we have visits once or twice a week. Fry is one of
our permanent customers. I remember talking to· him. I
don't remember any of the details, but if he came here and
talked to me, I went and got his record and talked to him.
I don't remember whether I talked to him about it or not.
Q. So the record may be satisfied, you were present during
the testimony of Dr. Hawkins and Mr. Humphries was also
present in your office?
A. Yes.
Q. I wanted to get that in the record. You have known
Mr. Humphries for a number of years, I take it, Doctor 1
A. Yes.
Q. And have operated on him for various things¥
A. I think maybe I have.
Q. Did you operate on him for fistula of the spine in 1921 !
A. I couldn't tell you. If he says I did, I did.
Q. And for tonsils and adenoids?
A. I didn't operate on him for tonsils. Somebody else
<lid that.
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page 79 ~

Q. Did you treat llim in 1938 for sciatic rheumatism?
A. I couldn't tell you that.
Q. Is there any relation between the tw,o diseases? Could
the two be confused?
A. Oh, I don't think so. It is possible a man might get
osteo-artbritis and a gait that would look like sciatica.
Q. Would it be possible for him to have osteo-arthritis since

19381
A. I think it would be possible, yes.
Q. So that, in answer to one of Mr. Collins' questions, if
it would take a long time to develop that, wouldn't it be within the realm of possibility, in your opinion 1
A. Yes.
Q. And, as I understand it, you agree, substantially, with
what Dr. Hawkins has said, with the exceptionA. Of the little demarcation that I made·. I think Dr.
Hawkins knows a great deal more than I do.
Q. And Dr. Hawkins is your assistant?
A. He is my associate. He has charge of the orthopedic
surgery.
Q. And you tµrn over this type of cases to him?
A. Yes.
page 80 ~ Q. I show you a photostat, Doctor, of your report and ask you if that appears to be in you1
handwriting?
A. Yes.
Q. And I ask you to note the answer to Question Number 4.
Does that mean, Doctor, that you did not attribute any traumatic origin to this particular case. of osteo-arthritis Y
A. Yes, as a matter of f a~t, I was reasonably assured, from
the little lmowledge I had, of this man's problem, that the
element of trauma. had not entered into it.
Q. Now, as to his habits, what did you ha"¥e particular
reference to when you said his habits and his poor nutrition
might have had some effect!
A. Well, he has been a bad boy, drinking liquor and taking
dope, and he still maintains his respectability somehow, with
it all.
Q. Edgar was a druggist once, wasn't he?
r

By Mr. Humphries: I never was a regist~red druggist.
A. He had a whole drug store.
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Q. So you do think his habits had something to do with it f
A. I think it is logical, the little we know about rheumatism
or arthritis. They believe now that a person's nutrition is a
tremendous factor in the case of arthritis, and, at times,
Edgar's nutrition would go down to nothing, because he harl
something else.
page 81 ~ Q. You used the two words synonymously. I~
old-fashioned rheumatism what we now, call
' ' arthritis ' '?
A. Yes, rheumatic cases are the same.
Q. In other words, you doctors have given a sixty-four-dollar word for an old disease, called "rheumatism"?
A. Yes. We have segregated it. The people who have
studied it have segregated the several kinds, some constructive processes and the others productive processes.
Q. That is with reference to the development?
A. Yes.
Q. That is about all I care to ask Dr. Emmett.
RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION.
By Mr. Collins: .
Q. This osteo-arthritis is a bone disease, is it not Y
A. Bone and joint disease.
Q. Bone and joinU
A. Yes.
Q. And when you say "deformative" t1pe, you mean that
the bones and joints deform Y
A. Yes.
Q. It is distinguished from rheumatism in that it has a
bone deformation in it 7
page 82 } A. No, it is distinguished from hypertrophy. It
has pronounced nodules on the bones.
Q. So deformity necessarily occurs, does it noU
A. Yes.
Q. Do you give the stenographer per.mission to sign your
name to this deposition when it is typed out?
A. Yes.
And further this deponent saith not.
DR. J. M. EMMETT,
By the Stenographer.
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State. of Virginia,
County of Alleghany, to-wit:

i, Eula B. B'aker; a Nota.ry Public in and for the County
and State aforesaid; do hereby· certify that the foregoing
d·epositions of Dr._R. P~ Hawkins and Dr. J.M. Emmett were
duly taken, sworn to, reduced to ·writing -and the ·names -or
the witnesses subscribed by me, at their authorization and
request, at the time and place and for the purpose in the
caption nieiiti:oned.
·- - -- ·
-'
My commission expires on the first day of July, 1944.
Given under my hand this 24th day of' Maren, 1944.
,

EUL.A B. BAKER,
··· Notary Public.

Notary's .fee for taking down depositions ..... $ 5.00
To_ writing same ......... : : ... ~.:: ~ .......... 13.50
Total ................... .-~ ~ ........ : ·... :· ... $'18.50
~
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Edgar Wallace Humphries, Claimant,
, ·v.
Newport News Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company, Employer, Self Insured: · , · ·
Claim No. 706-926..
\
'

'

.

. .. .

:

l\fay 2, 1944..
('

Claimant appeared in person..

Ital~ Collins, Covington, Virginia, for the claimant.

i't

fefa~,!~rh Fergu.~~n, :~e~?rt ~~",V~~ Yiri~a,. f
(

..

0~

!he ~-~-

•.......

Hearing.hefore.Qommissioner-Robinson, at,Newport News,
Va., March 29, 1944.

Robinson, Commissioner, rendered the opinion..
Edgar Wallace Humphries wrote the Newport News Shjp-building and Dry Dock Company, of Newport News, Virginia, on October 20, 1943, as follows:
''I was employed by you until June 28th, 1943, as a Clerk
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under J\Ir. C. R. Farinholt in the main storeroom. I was
disabled while so employed and am now advised that such
disability which the doctors say is osteo-arthritis, deformative
type, arose out of my employment and is permanent. Yon
will please treat this letter as a notice of claim under the
Workingmen 's Compensation Act and forward me such form&
as you may want me to fill out in connection therewith.''
This letter was filed with the Industrial Commission by the
employer on October 26, 1943, along with copy of
page 84 ~ letter addressed to Humphries advising him the
company had been unable to locate any record of an
injury by accident. As a result thereof, Humphries filed
application for hearing with the Commission on November
20, 1943, wherein he alleged that on J:une 28, 1943, he wa!:-i
injured by accident arising out of and in the course of his
employment with the defendant company; that he was com~
pelled to quit work on June 28, 1943, and that his injury wa~
"Osteo-arthritis, deformative type, depriving me permanentl:of the use of both feet, brought on by my employment". I1
will be seen that his application does not allege an accidm1t
but merely describes the nature of his condition, which i~.
of course, an injury and which he alleges was· '' brought on.
by my employment". The average weekly wage appears
to have been $48.60.
Evidence was taken at the hearing scheduled for March
29th at Newport News and additional testimony was taken
by deposition at Clifton Forge, Virginia, after proper notic,~.
on March 20, 1944. As the evidence taken at Clifton Forge
was of a medical nature, that taken at NewporfNews will be
considered first.
It is stipulated that Dr. Longaker, chief surgeon of t.he
defendant company, would testify that he talked with thi~
claimant on June 28, 1943, at which time the claimant advised
the doctor that his feet were hurting him, and that he would
go home for awhile; that no intimation was made to Dr.
Longaker of his having sustained an accident to account for
the condition, nor did the records 0£ the Clinic show an accident as having been reported by the claimant. Counsel for
the employer stated tllat the records of the Medical Depa-rtment indicated this claimant was not treated for an arci-,
dental injury, but that Dr. Longaker saw him in
page 85 } connection with a disability claim under a group
life insurance policy covering the employees of the
defendimt company.
Edgar Wallace Humphries, the claimant, testified that he
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was working in the storeroom, filling an order for bolts aud
nuts· that he was straddling one of the bins and, after filling
his drder, came down off the bin. He jumped from the last
bin to the floor and as he landed on the floor, his right foot
hurt worse than the left, the pains extending up to his knees,
and everything turned black before him. There was an empty
keg nearby and he got up from where he lauded and sat on
this keg for a few minutes. He thought that he had sprained
·his ankles and the condition grew worse from that clay on.
The jump from the top of the bin to the floor was a distance
of approximately 3 feet. He had made similar jumps before
without mishap. The employer had ladders for the use nf
the clerks but he did not resort to the use of same. He described these bins or shelves, which contained small objects
such as bolts and nuts, as being lined up against the wall
as in a grocery store with a board in front of each bin or
shelf one inch high to keep the material from falling out. He
claims to have told Mr. Davis, stock boss, that his feet were
hurting him and that he could not continue working and ho
was advised by Davis that he had an order to change him to
another shift, which was easier work. He admitted the only
time that he had seen Dr. Longaker was on June 28tl1, the
day he left the service of the company. He had, however,
secured the services of his own physician, a Dr. C. B. Coul'tney, beginning March 8, 1943, paying Dr. Courtney each visit,
as evidenced by receipts which were filed as exhibits. He was
advised by Dr. Courtney to see Dr. Longaker for the purpose of making claim for benefits under a group policy. He
was asked when he saw Dr. Courtney and Dr. Longpage 86 ~ aker if he knew he had a serious or permanent condition in his feet and replied that he thought it was
merely a strain and that it would clear up. As the claimant's
home was at Covington and he would not be able to work, Dr.
Courtney advised him to go home and place himself under the
care of Dr. Emmett and Dr. Hawkins, which he did. He admitted that he had filed a claim for disability benefits under
the group insurance policy of the Aetna Insurance Company,
which provides benefits for the employeef;3 of- the clefenda~t
company where the disability is not the result of an industrial accident to be covered by the Workmen's Compensation
law and he, likewise, admitted that he had received benefits
for permanent total disability under the group life insurance
policy, issued by the Aetna Insurance Company, the latter
being in the amount of $1,500. He was asked to give a definite
date as to the occurrence of his jumping from the bin ancl re:.
plied that he did not remember the exact date, but it w~~ along
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in the latter part of February, 1943. While under the care
of Dr. Courtney, he admitted asking Dr. Courtney as to the
advisability of his going to Hot Springs, Virginia, and taking
the baths, believing this would be of some assistance to the
condition of his feet. He was asked, when he reported to Clifton Forge and placed himself under the care of Dr. Emmett
and Dr. Hawkins, if he told them what he was doing. He replied that Dr. Hawkins asked him if he was doing the work
of a painter and he told him his work necessitated his climbing around like a monkey and getting material from bins. He
did not tell Dr. Hawkins that he had jumped from one of tho
bins to the floor. He further admitted that he dirl not tell
these doctors that he had had an accident but informed them
that he had been climbing about cons.iderably when
page 87 ~ he was asked if he had been standing on a painter's
ladder in connection with his work. ·when asked
to explain why he set forth in his application for hearing
that the accident occurred on June 28, 1943, he replied that
he merely kept on working, thinking his feet woulcl get all
right; that he did not remember the exact date he jumped
from the material bin but thought it was some time in February. He admitted having been paid disability benefits for a
non-occupational disability at the rate of $25.00 a week for
the period beginning March 27, 1943, to April 8, 1943, and
then was paid 13 weeks following his termination of ~ervice
in June, 1943. These payments were under the non-occupational group insurance policy issued by the Aetna Life Insurance Company, payments later having· been made under the
group life insurance plan issued by the same company and
in the face valµ.e of $1,500. He was asked if he ever described
the jumping down_ from the bins to anyone, as he related at the
hearing, and replied: ''I don't-remember whether I did.'' He
was asked if he informed Dr. Courtney of his accident and
frankly admitted that he couldn't say whr~ther he had told
him or not the incident of jumping down from the bin. It
is interesting to note the history that he gave the doctors at
Clifton Forge, where he admits that they asked him if he had
been painting or climbing around on a painter's ladder, and
he told them that he had not but explained to them about
climbing up and down the bins and the doctors seemed to think
that that was what started his trouble. It was admitted that
he did considerable climbing and the testimony sets forth
that he considered that the climbing around aggravated this
condition and the doctors had told him that if he had used a
steel arch support in his shoes to protect his instep that he
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probably would not have had this trouble. He
wrote this information in a letter to one Lloyd Taylor, a friend, on September 20, 1943, which letter
was filed as an exhibit. He admitted that he had never given
his employer notice setting forth the time and place and nature
of his alleged accident and was frank to testify that he could
not remember the date. He attempted to fix the date as
February 7th because it was about a month before the first
visit to Dr. Courtney.
Lloyd G. Taylor, supervisor of the Fitting Division of the
Purchasing Department, testified the claimant worked for him
as clerk in the main storeroom from November 7, 1942, until
June of 1943. He testified that, according to his recollection,
claimant was .suffering considerably with his feet soon after
he started work; that he had been going to Dr. Courtney
and taking shots and other treatment and had asked to get
onto the night shift, as the work would be easier on his feet.
This was arranged for some time in February. He did recall that the claimant told him that on one occasion he jumped
from the bin and hurt his feet, but he did not recall which
one and further remembered commenting to the claimant that
ladders were supplied for use in connection with the upper
bins. He was asked if the claimant told him when he hurt
his feet and replied in the negative. He w·as asked if the
claimant told him in June, when he followed the advice of Dr.
Courtney to take a rest, wlrnther any comment was made about
f\D accident and he replied that there had been no comment
or refere nee made to any accident. Shortly after this claimant started working, which was some time in November or December, 1942, this witness advised him to secure a type of shoe
that would be easy on his feet while walking on concrete floors,
which indicates claimant was even then complainpage 89 ~ ing of foot trouble.
The statement from Doctors C. B. Courtney and
J. S. Williams dated March 15, 1943, and addressed To Whom
it May Concern, was as follows:
page 88

~

"This patient, Mr. E. W. Humphries has been observed
and treated by us and we feel that he .should be relieved or
duty."
No refere nee was made there to accidental injury. A lette1
from this claimant addressed to "Dear Loyd" (Loyd G. Taylor), dated September 20, 1943, :filed as Exhibit D, indicates
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that he had been treated at the Clifton Forge Hospital. X-rays
were taken and they advised him that he could not return· to
work for several months and he was informed by the doctors
that he had bone dislocation in both feet ( cause of trouble undetermined) and further states in the letter that the doctors in
Newport News said it was neuritis and treated him for
neuritis and treated him for neuritis, but when he had his
feet X-rayed at the Clifton Forge Hospital they found bone
destruction which started in the instep. The letter, in part,
is as follows :
''Dr. Hawkins at the Hospital asked me if I had been painting or climbing around on a painter's ladder. I told him no
but explained to him ,about climbing up and down the bins and
he seemed to think that was the trouble and if I had of used a
steel arch in my shoes protecting my instep, I would not have
had this trouble. ''
This letter to a friend fails to place the condition as fallowing the accident but rather the continued strain of climbing
about affecting the arches of his feet, which could have been
·prevented had he had steel arch supports. No inpage 90 r formation was given even in this letter of an alleged
accident.
In the preliminary notice of permanent disability claim,
filed with the Aetna Life Insurance Company, dated October
20, 1943, and filed as Exhibit F-1, we find question 7 and
answer as follows :
"7. Cause of disability and details of illness and symptom~
present . . . Osteo-arthri tis of bones of feet, deforming type :
first bothered by pain and swelling in both feet in February~
1943, laid off then for few weeks, returned to work and in
June condition became snch that had to quit all work.''
This form shows. date the symptoms first became known as
the latter part of February, 1943. The report of Dr. J. M.
Emmett of October 16, 1943, filed as Exhibit F-2, making inquiry as to any injury, was answered in the negative. Th~
question and answer designated as #4 is as follows:
"4. Has insured suffered from any infirmity, disease, or
injury other than as above mentioned f If so, describe eacb
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case, state how long.it existed and give names of all physician~
consulted . . . Not known."
Likewise, the report of Dr. R. P. Hawkins, Jr., of October
2, 1943, designated as Exhibit F-3, question 4, is as follows:
"4. Has insured suffered from any infirmity, disease, or injury other than as above mentioned? If so, describe each
case, state how long it existed and give names of
page 91 r all physicians consulted . . . Unknown."
Both Dr. Emmett and Dr. Hawkins, in their reports, describe the condition as pain and swelling of both feet with a
diagnosis as "osteo-arthritis of feet,. deforming type."
The report of Dr. Walter W. Johnson, Jr., dated October
12th, filed as Exhibit F-4, cdntains the same information
as did the reports of Dr. Emmett and Dr. Hawkins.
Consideration will now be given the depositions of_ Dr. R. P.
Hawkins and J. M. Emmett, which were taken on March 20.
1944. Dr. Hawkins testified that he made a thorough examination in July or August, 1943; and has also examined this
claimant since then. He diagnosed the condition of ostc0arthritis of the bones of the feet, a condition which will result
in permanent disability. He was unable to determine when
this condition started but, from the history, was of the opinion
that it existed as far back as February, 1943. This condition
could exist without the individual having symptoms or pain,
as it is a prog·ressive condition, resulting in a deformity of
the joints and is commonly the result of syphilis. It may,
however, be the result of a fracture but ordinarily is du&
to the erosion of the bone, taking years to develop and is
more or less a common disease that develops in people past
middle life. He was asked to state his opinion as to the cause
of the osteo-arthritis present in this claimant's feet and replied that, in his opinion, the disease of this claimant's feet
was the result of a syphilitic condition involving the tarsal
joints of the feet. He further stated that this syphilitic infection existed for a number of years prior to the time that
·
he made his examination. He was then asked if
page 92 r he were to assume that the osteo-arthritis was
present prior to February 7, 1943, and that the
claimant was not conscious of its symptoms, that is, he suffered no pain or swelling and had jumped onto the concrete
floor a distance of approximately 3 feet, would thi's force
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be sufficient to bring on the symptoms of osteo-arthritis, and
he replied in the negative. His evidence indicated that such
a jump as was alleged would not bring on the symptoms of
this disease, that is, the pain and swelling and discomfort.
He was frank to admit that he had no way of definitely stating when the disease might have had its beginning other than
that it was the result of a syphlitic infection. This claimant
had a perfect background as a result of this syphilitic condition to produce the symptoms that were present on and after
February 7, 1943. One would expect such a condition to finally
show itself where there was this syphilitic background. It is
a chronic, prog-ressive disease and not one that is acute in
its origin. He received no history from this claimant of having jumped onto a concrete floor. Reference to his records
showed no mention made of this incident. This doctor completed the proof of claim for benefits under the Aetna Life
Insurance Company's group disability policy for which weekly
benefits were paid and also completed the ·proof of claim for
the Aetna wherein the claimant_ was paid the $1,500.00 for
permanent disability. In these documents he showed the
cause or origin of a condition which he diagnused as osteoarthritis of both feet, deforming in type, assuming that the
one who was passing on the validity of the claim would interpret the report. He did, however, state that he did not consider that one could interpret anything that he put in the proof
of claim blanks as being in the nature of an accidental injury. . He. found no ·physical evidence of any accipage 93 ~ dent and, owing to the syphilitic background and
symptoms that he found on examination, he did not
consider it necessary to look for any other cause. The condition he found was characteristic of the. osteo-arthritis associated with syphilitic infection. Reference is made to a letter
from this witness to Dr. Walt_er Johnson, dated August 2,
1943. This letter indicated the claimant left the hospital Sunday; that he checked his condition rather extensively; thflt
X-rays of the feet revealed marked irregularities and destructive areas in the tarsal bones. He had a very definite
luetic history and has had very extensive treatment. Dr.
Hawkins was of the opinion he was undoubtedly tabetic and
that he had Charcot joints which involve both feet. The onlv
treatment w~mld be that of rest. The condition was chronic,
rather than acute, as from trauma.
Dr. J. M. Emmett, Chief Surgeon of the Chesapeake and
Ohio Railway, in charge of the hospital at Clifton Forge, Virginia, testified that he has known this claimant for years,
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saw him at intervals with Dr. Hawkins,, largely because of
his personal interest in the claimant, and was of the opinion
he bad a deforming case of osteo-arthritis involving both
feet, which was permanent in extent. He agreed with the
testimony of Dr. Hawkins and stated that the answer to this
claimant's condition logically is that he has had a syphilitic
infection. This is not a condition in the sense of a decaying
of the bone but it is a changed condition of the bones marked
by a distortion or change in structure where the maintenance
of the continuity of the bone is interfered with, producing
bone swelling and suffering. From the. X-ray pictures, he was
of the opinion that this disease existed as far back
page 94 r as February of 1943 and that he probably had it a
long time prior thereto. He further explained that
some time during tlle progress of the disease he would have
to be conscious of it because he would. be walking on deformed
members (feet). He was asked to ref er to his answer as to
Question #4 on the proof of claim which has. been quoted
above and to explain the cause of the osteo-arthritis and replied that, from the knowledge he had of this claimant's condition, the element of trauma or accident had not entered into
it.
The above constitutes the evidence. The claimant ha:s failed
to establish that he suffered an accident, as alleged, on Feb- ·
ruary 7, 194S, or even on June 28, 1943, as set forth in his
application. The evidence indicates that he was suffering from
foot trouble continuously from the inception of his employment and had been advised by another workman to secure
a more suitable type of shoe even prior to February 7, 1943.
"When he made his claim for benefits under the two Aetna
policies, that is, for weekly benefits and for permanent total
disability, no inferenee is made as to injury by accident as the
cause of the condition. In fact, the reports from the doctors
clearly indicate the claimant _was incapacitated and later permanently disabled, bnt nowhere in their reports nor in the
history received from the claimant was there any intimation
or allegation made. that the condition was accidental and
brought about by his employment. C'orre~pondence to llis
fellow workman, Lloyd Taylor, indicates that he attrihutecI
the condition to elimbing about on these bins and that it would
not have happened had he had steel arch supports. On&
would conclude that the continuous- ~train of his
page 95 ~ feet either produced or aggravated the condition
and, certainly, had he attributed it to any particular
incident or accident, some referenee would have been made
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to such an incident, either to his friend, Lloyd Taylor, to Dr.
Courtney or to Dr. Hawkins or Dr. Emmett. The record
is singularly Jacking in this respect. The medical evidence
indicates a typical chronic condition diagnosed as osteoarthritis of the deforming type, usually associated or following
a syphilitic infection.
~
As this claimant failed to establish that his condition was
the result of an injury by accident arising out of and in tbe
course of the employment with the Newport News Shipbuilding & Dry Dock Company, and for the fu~·ther reason that no
notice of an alleged accident was given the company within
thirty days of its occurrence, as required by Section 23 of
the Act, his claim for compensation benefits is denied, each
party paying its own costs.
page 96}

NOTICE OF AWARD.
Claim No. 706-926

Case of Edgar vVallace Humphries
Accident 6-28-43
Date May 2, 1944
To Newport News Shipbuilding & Dry
Dock Co. R {Employer)
Newport News.~ Virginia
and Edg·ar Wallace Humphries {Claimant)
203 Chestnut Street
Covington, Virginia
Hale Collins, Attorney R
Covington, Virginia
and Self Insured 1(Insurance Carrier)
You are hereby notified that a hearing was held in the above
styled case before Robinson, Commissioner, at Newport News,
Virginia, on March 29, 1944, and a decision rende1·ed on May
2, 1944o dismissing this claim on the ground this claimant
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failed to establish that his condition was the result of an injury by accident arising· out of and in the course of his employment and for the further reason that no notice of an alleged accident was given the company within thirty days of
its occurrence as required by Section 23 of the A.ct.
Each party will pay its own costs in this proceeding.
INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION OF VIRGINIA
W. H. NICKELS, JR.
Chairman
Attest:
W. F. BURSEY
Secretary
page 97

~

Edgar

v.

·w·allace Humphries,

Claimant

Newport News Shipbuilding & Dry Dock Co., Employer. Self
Insured
Claim No. 706-926
June 12, 1944
Mr. Hale Collins, Attorney-at-law, Covington, Virginia, for
the Claimant.
Mr. W. 1\foL. Ferguson, Attorney-at-law, Newport News,
Virginia, for the Defendant.
Review before the Full Commission at Richmond, Virginia,
on May 29th, 1944.
Deans, Commissioner, rendered the opinion.
A review of the above styled claim was held before the Full
Commission at the request of the claimant who was aggrieved
at the decision of Robinson, Commissioner,.of May 2nd, 1944.,
based upon the evidence taken at the hearing at Newport
News., Virginia, on March 29th, 1944, as well as the award of
May 2nd, 1944, dismissing this claim on the ground that claimant failed to establish that his condition was result of an
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injury by accident arising· out of and in the course of his employment as alleged, and for the further reason that no notice of the alleged accident was given the company within
thirty days of its occurrence., as required by Section 23 of the
.
·
Act.
It appears from a review of the evidence, as well as the
brief of claimant's counsel, that he fails to establish that
there was an accident arising out of and in the course of the
employment. His application for hearing filed on November
20th, 1943, gave the date of the alleged accident as June 28th,
1943. At the hearing on March 29th it developed that this
was when he reported to Dr. Longaker, .chief surpage 98 ~ geon of the defendant company, that his feet were
hurting him a.nd that the alleged accident actually
occurred along the latter part of February, 1943. On October 20th, 1943, he reported to the. employer as follows :
'' I was employed by you until June 28th., as a Clerk under
Mr. C.R. Farnholt in the main store room. I was disabled
while so employed and am now advised that such disability
which the doctors say is osteoarthritis, deformative type,
arose out of my employment and is permanent. You will
please treat this letter as a notice of claim under the Workingmen 's Compensation Act and forward me such forms as
you may want me to fill out in connection therewith.''
On October 25th, 1943, the employer reported as follows:
'' This will acknowledge receipt of your letter dated October 20, 1943, in which you state that you were disabled while
employed at this Plant.
We have been unable to locate any record of an injury. Accordingly we have not made any report to the Industrial Commission. However, we are sending them a copy of this letter,
together with your letter of October 20, 1943, so that they
may be advised in the event you decide to make a formal
claim.
According to our records you were not in good physical
shape when employed on November 7., 1942, and terminated
your employment because of poor health.''
page 99

~

These letters are filed with the Commission and
at the hearing marked as appropriate exhibits. On
November 5th, 1943, the Claims Division of the Indus~rial
Commission wrote this claimant as follows:
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""\Ve have your letter of October 20, 1943, addressed to the
employer in this case and also copy of the employer's letter
to you of October 25, 1943.
If you take the position and believe you can prove that you
suffered injury by accident arising out of and in the course
of your employment you may complete and return the enclosed application for a hearing before the Commission. Unless we receive the application within the next fifteen days
we shall assume vou intend to make no claim and shall close
our :file subject
your rig·ht to have same reopened within.
one year from the date of the alleged injury by filing the application for hearing with the Commission.''
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He then filed his application for hearing indicating the
date of the alleged accident was June 28th, 1943. The evidence indicates there was no mention made to the employer
of any alleged accident. The employer has instituted an insurance benefit program for the protection of the employees
for disability not connected with industrial accidents, this
insurance being generally known as group insurance. One
type provides for weekly benefits within certain limits and
the other for permanent total disability or as a life insurance
policy. A photostatic copy of the Preliminary
page 100 ~ Notice of Permanent Total Disability, issued under the Aetna Life Insurance Company life insurance policy, and marked Exhibit F-1, indicat'es that Edgar
Wallace Humphries., clerk of the defendant company, made
claim for benefits under date of October 20, 1943. Questions
Nos. 7, 8, 9 and 10, and their answers, are quoted here:
"7. Cause of disability and details of illness or accident
and symptoms present: Osteoarthritis of bones of feet, deforming type; first bothered by pain and swelling in both
feet in February, 1943, laid off then for few weeks, returned to
work and in June condition became such that had to quit all
work.''
"8. Date symptoms :first became known: Latter part of
February, 1943.''
"9·. Date total disability began: June 28th., 1943. ''
"10. Date last worked: June 28th, 1943."
Nothing here indicates that an accident was the background
either as a producing or accelerating cause of this condition.:
He made claim and received weekly benefits under one type
of policy and also received benefits for permanent total dis-
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ability under the group life insurance policy, both of which
were issued by the Aetna Life Insurance Company, the permanent total benefits having been in the amount of $1,500.00.
Nothing was intimated that the condition was due to an alleged accident. "'\Vhen- he visited Dr. Hawkins and Dr. Emmett at the Clifton Forge Hospital and gave them a history
of his condition, they raised the question as to
page 101 ~ whether he had been climbing about on a ladder.
This was indicated in claimant's letter to his
friend, Lloyd Graham Taylor, who was also an employee of
the defendant company. This letter was filed as Exhibit '' D ''
by the defendant, which is quoted here in full: ·
''The doctors at the Clifton Forge Hospital informed me
today after taking X-ray pictures again of my feet, that I
could not go back to work for several months if able to go
then. They claim I have a bone destruction in both feet
(cause of trouble undetermined). ·when my feet first started
to bother me last February,, the Doctors in Newport News
said it was Nuritis and treated me for Nuritis, but when I
had my feet X-rayed at the Hospital they found I bad a bone
destruction, which started in the instep. Dr. Hawkins (at
Hospital) asked me if I had been painting or climbing around
on a painters ladder. I told him no but explained to him
about climbing up and down the bins and he seemed to think
that was what started my trouble. If I had of used a steel
arch in my shoes protecting my instep I would not of had
this trouble. But it is too late to worry over it now. It
w·orries me to thin~ I have g·otto give up my job for I really
enjoyed working for you and with the other employees. I
wish you -would explain to Mr. Farnholt why I can not return and thank he aild all the rest for the favors shown me
while I worked there. For every thing· I asked
page 102 ~ for I got, such as the 4 to 12 and 12 to 8 shift as
well as the raise in salary. I still lives in hopes
that my feet will heal and that I can go back to work some
day. If I ever come to Newport News I will look vou up.
Be sure to remember me to all the Gang and tell "Red" to
take care of you and the rest. If I have any money at the
office due me also paid on bond, I would appreciate very much
if you will look after it for me. Also tell Red to go ahead and
keep my wrenc.hes he has and to drop by home the next time
he is in Covington, as I want to see him. Also please tell
Mallory that I will have his coffee urn delivered to him by
the boy I roomed with in Newport News. He will understand
about it. I should have notified you before that I could not
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come back to work but I was living in hopes I would be able
to return and take a sitting down job.
Regardless of what the Doctors here say, I still lives in
hopes of being able to work again soon. Will close wishing
you and the gang the very best of luck.''
So as of September 20th, 1943, when this letter was written, he bad not yet a ttacbed this condition to an accidental
injury caused by jumping from the bin to the floor, a distance
of approximately 2% feet. Both Dr. Hawkins and Dr. Emmett., who are recognized surgeons, account for claimant's
condition as being due to syphilis. They received
pag·e 103 ~ no history of any jumping or condition that could
be considered accidental in origin and, in fact,
attempted to elicit sufficient history to make a true diagnosis,
asking him if he had been doing much work on a ladder.
·when full consideration is given to the failure to notify the
employer of an alleg·ed accident within thirty days, as required by Section 23 of the Act, and when we take into consideration he made his claim under the group or life insurance policy for certain benefits for. permanent total disability,
gave no intimation of an alleged accident as the cause of the
condition, the evidence as a whole indicates that the definite
cause of his complaint i~ result of a syphilitic condition, and
the findings of facts and conclusions of law of Robinson, the
Hearing Commissioner, must be affirmed both as to failure
to establish an injury by accident arising out of and in the
course of the employment as the producing cause of this
trouble for which compensation is claimed, and for the failure
of the claimant to give notice of the alleged accident within
thirty days, as required by Section 23 of the Act. Claimant's
counsel places considerable emphasis on the alleged accident
aggravating· a pre-existing condition, taking the position that
the ag·gravation of such condition would be as compensable
as if the present condition were directly the result of an accident. As no accident has been established no consideration
can be given to the claim of aggravation of .pre-existing condition.
For the above reasons the Full Commission affirms the decision and award of the Hearing Commissioner· of May 2nd,
1944, and the claim is dismissed.

I
I
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NOTICE OF AWARD
Claim No. 706-926
Date June 12, 1944

Case of Edgar Wallace Humphries
To Newport News Shipbuilding & Dry
Dock Co. R, (Employer)
Newport News, Virginia
Mr. Hale Collins, Atty. R
Covington, Va.
and Edgar Wallace Humphries (Claimant)
203 Chestnut Street
Covington, Virginia
.A.nd Self Insured (Insurance Carrier)
You are hereby notified that a review was held in the above
. styled case before the full Commission at Richmond, Virginia~
on May 29, 1944, adopting the :findings of fact and conclusions
of law of the hearing Commissioner as those of the full Commission on review and affirming the Commission's award of
!fay 2, 1944, dismissing this claim.
INDUSTR.IAL COMMISSION OF VIRGINIA
W. H. NICKELS, JR.
Chairman.
Attest:
W. F. BURSEY
Secretary
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I, W. F. Bursey, Secretary, Industrial Commission of Virginia, hereby certify that the foregoing, according to the records of this office., is a true and correct copy of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and other
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matters pertinent to the question at issue in Claim No. 706926, Edgar Wallace Humphries, Claimant v. Newport News
Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company, Employer, Self Insured.
·
I further certify that the employer, through counsel, had
notice that the Secretary, Industrial Commission of Virginia,
would be requested to furnish certified copy of the record for
the purpose of appeal to the Supreme Court of Appeals of
Virginia.
I further certify that, as evidenced by U. S. Postal Registry Return Receipt Card, the claimant, through counsel, received on June 13, 1944, copy of award of the Industrial Commission of Virginia, dated June 12, 1944.
· Given under my hand and the seal of the Industrial Com-·
mission of Virginia, this the 1st day of July, 1944.
(Seal)

W. F. BURSEY,.
Secretary., Industrial Commission
of Virginia.
A Copy-Teste:

M. B. WATTS, C. C.
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